DEVELOPMENT OF PLANT REGENERATION AND TRANSFORMATION TECHNIQUES TOWARDS REDUCING GLUCOSINALBIN BIOSYNTHESIS IN FIELD PEPPERWEED (Lepidium campestre L.)

A Thesis

Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

in the

Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology

University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada

By

Chammi Sharmalie Munasinghe

© Copyright Chammi S Munasinghe, September, 2010. All rights reserved.

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfilment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan Canada, S7N 5E5

ABSTRACT

Field pepperweed (*Lepidium campestre* L.) is a cruciferous winter annual wild edible plant. It has potential medicinal properties as it contains a considerable level of glucoraphanin, which is the precursor for sulforaphane, a phase 2 protein inducer. Phase 2 proteins either directly or indirectly promote the scavenging of strong oxidants, and thus decrease the risk of many complex disorders such as atherosclerosis and Alzheimer's disease. However, field pepperweed plants also contain glucosinalbin, an antinutritional compound. For field pepperweed to become a green vegetable crop or source of functional food, it is desirable to reduce or eliminate glucosinalbin. The biosynthesis of glucosinalbin may be down-regulated through biotechnology. To that end, in the present studies, experimental protocols for plant regeneration and *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation have been developed for field pepperweed. Establishment of such methods represents a vital first step in the process of engineering field pepperweed for enhanced nutritional value.

The effect of explant type and various combinations of growth regulators on regeneration were evaluated in three accessions of field pepperweed (Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718). Among the three genotypes, accession Ames 13179 had the highest regeneration frequency under several conditions. Regeneration from hypocotyl explants was more rapid and prolific than regeneration from either mature leaf or cotyledonary explants. Segments from the acropetal end of the hypocotyls were more regenerable than those from the basipetal end. Evaluation of different hormonal combinations and concentrations identified an optimal growth regulator combination (3 mg L⁻¹ thidiazuron / 0.1 mg L⁻¹ naphthalene acetic acid) for shoot induction.

The plant regeneration system established was adopted for field pepperweed transformation using the acropetal segments of hypocotyls as explants. Two plant expression

constructs were tested for down-regulating by RNA interference with the expression of a field pepperweed cytochrome P450 gene named LcCYP79B2. This gene may be involved in biosynthesis of glucosinalbin. Conditions for transformation such as pre-culture, co-cultivation time, and antibiotic concentration were evaluated. Transgenic plants were obtained and confirmed by histochemical staining of the reporter β -glucuranidase activity and PCR (polymerase chain reaction) analysis of the *NPTII* gene. The current study has established efficient plant regeneration and transformation protocols for field pepperweed. They should be useful for future molecular biology studies and biotechnological applications in this species.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors, Dr. B. H. J. Juurlink and Dr. Hong Wang, for their support and guidance throughout my M.Sc. program. Their suggestions and thought-provoking conversations were also greatly appreciated. Further I would like to extend my sincere thank to Dr. Hong Wang for giving me the support to overcome many frustrations and the belief for a possible good outcome for my M.Sc. program. I would like to thank my Advisory Committee members Drs. Manjula Bandara, Alison Ferrie and Doug Waterer, for their advice and time. My appreciation is also expressed to Dr. Chris Todd for serving as the External Examiner.

Special thanks are extended to Joe Hammerlindl, Plant Biotechnology Institute, National Research Council, Saskatoon for his gracious technical guidance and support that contributed towards the smooth progress of my work. Also I would like to thank Don Palmer, Plant Biotechnology Institute, National Research Council, Saskatoon for giving me very valuable advices and ideas to obtain positive results. I would like to thank Dr. Xianzong Shi in Dr. Hong Wang's laboratory Department of Biochemistry, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada for preparing the RNAi constructs and Ms. Rozina Hirji and Dr. Gopalan Selvaraj in the Plant Biotechnology Institute of National Research Council of Canada, Saskatoon, for the construct pHS723. I am grateful to Dr. Alison Ferrie for making the arrangement allowing me to perform the experiments in the Plant Biotechnology Institute, National Research Council of Canada, and to Dr. Manjula Bandara for providing the *Lepidium campestre* seeds.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTi
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiii
TABLE OF CONTENTS iv
LIST OF TABLES vii
LIST OF FIGURES viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS x
1.0 INTRODUCTION01
2.0 LITERATURE SURVEY
2.1 Field Pepperweed (Lepidium campestre L.)
2.1.1 Edible uses04
2.1.2 Chemical composition of field pepperweed plant
2.2 Glucosinolates
2.2.1 Biosynthesis of glucosinolates07
2.2.2 Biosynthetic pathways of glucoraphanin and glucosinalbin08
2.2.3 Hydrolysis of glucosinolates by plant and microbial myrosinase 09
2.2.4 Nutritional and toxic effects of glucosinolates
2.2.5 Health impacts of dietary glucoraphanin11
2.2.6 Induction of phase 2 proteins by sulforaphane
2.3 In vitro plant regeneration
2.3.1 Genotype 15
2.3.2 Physiological stages of source plants and tissues
2.3.3 Plant growth regulators (PGR)

2.3.4 Environmental factors	19
2.4 Plant transformation	21
2.4.1 Methods of plant transformation	21
2.4.2 Selectable markers	23
2.4.3 Pre-culturing	24
2.4.4 Inoculation and co-cultivation	26
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
3.1 Materials	27
3.1.1 Seed sterilization and germination	27
3.1.2 Leaf sterilization	28
3.2 Media preparation	29
3.2.1 Seed germination medium	29
3.2.2 Pre-culture/co-cultivation medium	29
3.2.3 Shoot induction media (SIM)	30
3.2.4 Shoot elongation medium (SEM)	30
3.2.5 Root induction medium (RIM)	31
3.3 Evaluation of explants for shoot induction	31
3.3.1 Further optimization of <i>in vitro</i> shoot regeneration	32
3.4 Agrobacterium-mediated transformation	34
3.4.1 Bacterial strains and plasmids	34
3.4.2 Agrobacterium transformation of hypocotyl explants of field	
pepperweed	35
3.4.3 Evaluating optimum kanamycin concentration for Agrobacterium	
transformation	36

3.4.4 Co-cultivation	7
3.5 Analysis of transgenic plants	7
3.5.1 GUS assay	7
3.5.2 DNA extraction	8
3.5.3 PCR amplification of <i>NPTII</i> gene	8
4.0 RESULTS	0
4.1 Evaluation of genotypes, explant types and plant hormonal combinations	
for shoot induction	0
4.1.1 Leaf explants	1
4.1.2 Hypocotyl explants 4	6
4.1.3 Cotyledonary petiole explants	9
4.2 Optimization of shoot induction from hypocotyl explants	2
4.3 Shoot elongation	8
4.4 Rooting 6	0
4.5 Optimizing kanamycin concentration for transformation of field	
pepperweed6	0
4.6 Co-cultivation	2
4.7 Analysis of putative transformants	7
4.7.1 Plant transformation	7
4.7.2 GUS assay 6	8
4.7.3 Confirmation of transformants by polymerase chain reaction	
(PCR)	9
5.0. DISCUSSION	3
6.0 REFERENCES	0

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Concentrations of the auxin NAA and cytokinins used in initial experiments...... 30

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Growth chamber grown field pepperweed
Figure 2. General structure of glucosinolates
Figure 3. Cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenases involved in the biosynthesis of the
glucoraphanin and glucosinalbin core structures
Figure 4. Names and structures of products from glucosinolate hydrolysis by the enzyme
myrosinase10
Figure 5. Activation of phase 2 enzymes by sulforaphane
Figure 6. Relative concentrations of auxin and cytokinin required for growth and
organogenesis19
Figure 7. Schematic representation of acropetal (segment 1), middle (segment 2) and basipetal
segments (segment 3) of the hypocotyl of field pepperweed
Figure 8. The expression cassette in the RNAi construct targeting a field pepperweed P450
gene
Figure 9. Effects of genotypes, explant types and hormonal combinations on shoot and root
induction from leaf explants of field pepperweed
Figure 10. Shoot regeneration from leaf explants of field pepperweed
Figure 11. Effects of genotypes, explant types and hormonal combinations on shoot and root
induction from hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed
Figure 12. Shoot regeneration of hypocotyl explants from accession Ames 13179 of field
pepperweed
Figure 13. Effects of genotypes, explant types and hormonal combinations on shoot and root
induction from cotyledonary petiole explants of field pepperweed
Figure 14. Shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants of accessions 13179, 13180 and 15718
on shoot induction medium containing 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ and 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA 53
Figure 15. Shoot regeneration frequencies of acropetal, midle and basipetal segments of
hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed55

Figure16. Shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants of accession 13179 of field
pepperweed
Figure 17. Shoot development on hypocotyl explants of accession 13179 of field pepperweed
Figure 18. Further optimization of hormone concentrations for shoot induction from
hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed60
Figure 19. Plantlet of field pepperweed with a fully developed root system on root induction
medium (RIM)
Figure 20. Shoot induction from hypocotyl explants of accession Ames 13179 of field
pepperweed on different concentrations of kanamycin
Figure 21. Effect of kanamycin concentration on shoot regeneration frequency of the
hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed accession Ames 13179 65
Figure 22. Effect of co-cultivation period on shoot regeneration frequency of the hypocotyl
explants of accession Ames13179 of field pepperweed
Figure 23. Comparison of two constructs on shoot regeneration of field pepperweed accession
Ames 13179 in presence of kanamycin
Figure 24. Histochemical analysis of leaves of field pepperweed plants transformed with the
plasmid pHS72369
Figure 25. PCR (polymerase chain reaction) analysis of kanamycin-resistant field pepperweed
plants70
Figure 26. Transformed plants of field pepperweed71
Figure 27. Summary of the plant regeneration and transformation procedures developed in
this study for field pepperweed accession Ames 1317973

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2, 4-D	-	2, 4-dichlorophenoxy acetic acid
B5	-	Gamborg's salts and vitamins
BA	-	6-benzylaminopurine
GA ₃	-	Gibberellic acid
GUS	-	β-glucuronidase
IBA	-	Indole-3-butyric acid
MES	-	2-N-morpholinoethane sulfonic acid
MS	-	Murashige and Skoog's salt
NAA	-	Naphthalene acetic acid
NPT II	-	Neomycin phosphotransferase II
PCR	-	Polymerase chain reaction
TDZ	-	Thidiazuron
X-Gluc	-	5-bromo-4-chromo-3-indolyl-glucuronidase

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Field Pepperweed (*Lepidium campestre* L.) is a winter annual weed plant and belongs to the family *Brassicaceae* (Thiede and Augspurger, 1996). Field pepperweed has been reported as an edible plant (Szczawinski and Turner, 1978; Elias and Dykeman, 1990). Fresh young leaves, shoots or seeds of field pepperweed could be added as a stimulating addition to soups, sauces, salads, and casseroles.

The constituent composition and content of the field pepperweed have been studied (Andersson *et al.*, 1999; Windsor *et al.*, 2005). Windsor *et al.*, (2005) have reported leaves of field pepperweed contain certain types of glucosinolates such as glucoraphanin, glucosinalbin, glucoalyssin, glucohesperin, and glucobrassicin. Among those glucosinolates, glucoraphanin and glucosinalbin are the two major glucosinolates in leaves of field pepperweed (B. H. J. Juurlink, personal communication).

The glucosinolate glucoraphanin is a precursor for isothiocyanate sulforaphane (4methylsulfinylbutyl isothiocyanate), a phase 2 protein inducer. Several studies have shown that isothiocyanates derived from the corresponding glucosinolates are beneficial components in the human diet, as they reduce the risk of cancer and other chronic and degenerative diseases by inducing phase 2 proteins (Fahey *et al.*, 1997; Nestle, 1997; Faulkner *et al.*, 1998; Jones and Brooks, 2006). In cultured human cells and rats, sulforaphane was able to induce several phase 2 proteins (mainly enzymes) and blocked the formation of 9, 10-dimethyl-1, 2benzanthracene induced mammary tumors and induces apoptosis (Zhang *et al.*, 1994). Juurlink (2001) suggested that one of the consequences of phase 2 protein induction is decreased oxidative stress and such an effect should retard or even prevent atherosclerotic changes, thereby reducing the incidence of heart and brain attacks, while also slowing the progression of Alzheimer's disease.

While sulforaphane, a hydrolyzed product of glucoraphanin, is considered as an efficient inducer of phase 2 proteins, glucosinalbin in contrast is considered a toxic and antinutritional compound (Zukalová and Vašák, 2002). Some of the isothiocyanate breakdown products are capable of inhibiting the synthesis of the thyroxine and tri-iodine-thyronine thyroidal hormones which may lead to develop goiter (Zukalová and Vašák, 2002).

As leaves of field pepperweed contain a significant amount of glucoraphanin this plant could be converted into a functional food source. However, field pepperweed also contains a high level of glucosinalbin, which has many antinutritional properties. Therefore, the level of glucosinalbin needs to be reduced or eliminated in the field pepperweed plant for it to become a functional food crop. One possible approach to reducing this antinutritional compound glucosinalbin is to block or reduce its synthesis utilizing *Agrobacterium*-mediated transgenic technology.

The first objective of this project is to establish a reliable plant regeneration system for field pepperweed using potential explants such as hypocotyls, leaf and cotyledonary petiole explants. Three accessions of field pepperweed (Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718) were evaluated for *in vitro* shoot regeneration response. The second objective of this study is to develop an efficient *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation method for field pepperweed.

2.0 LITERATURE SURVEY

2.1 Field pepperweed (*Lepidium campestre* L.)

Field Pepperweed (*Lepidium campestre* L.) is a winter annual plant (Figure 1A) (Thiede and Augspurger, 1996) belonging to the Brassicaceae (mustard) family. This plant species is native to Europe, but commonly found in North America (Claypole, 1886; Martindale, 1877) as an invasive weed. It is most abundant in the North East to the North Midwest. It grows on disturbed sites, waste grounds and roadsides (Martindale, 1877; Miller and Werner, 1987).

At early growth stages, the field pepperweed plant consists of a rosette of basal leaves. These leaves are round but taper to the base and the leaf margins may be lobed, toothed, or entire. Upper stem leaves are sessile, alternate and arrow-shaped. One or more flowering stems develop from the rosettes that are more or less erect. The stems reach 30 cm in height and are covered with short trichomes. Each stem terminates in a raceme of white flowers (Figure 1B). The flowers bloom toward the apex of the raceme, while the seedpods (siliques) develop below. Individual flowers are 2 mm long, have four white or greenish-white petals, and occur on 4-8 mm long stalks (pedicels). The root system consists of a stout taproot (Ontario weeds: Field pepper grass, 2003).

Field pepperweed germinates in the fall and forms an over-wintering basal rosette of leaves. The plant blooms in early spring and disperses its seeds in July and August. Each seedpod is about 5-6 mm long and 4 mm wide, with a "winged" structure at the apex (Figure 1C) (Ontario weeds: field peppergrass, 2003). The relatively small "winged" seed pods can be easily distributed by the wind or by moving vegetation (Thiede and Augspurger, 1996).



Figure 1. Growth chamber grown field pepperweed.(A) Six-week old plant.(B) Flowers.(C) Seed pods.

2.1.1 Edible uses

Plants in the genus *Lepidium* are considered as edible wild plants by several authors (Fernald *et al.*, 1958; Szczawinski and Turner, 1980; Duke, 1992). Field pepperweed is a very good substitute for zesty watercress. The pods and seeds have a taste in between mustard and pepper. The ground seeds can be mixed with vinegar and salt and used as a seasoning for meats. The fresh leaves are excellent in salads and sandwiches. Young shoots or leaves are a stimulating addition to soups, sauces and casseroles (Szczawinski and Turner, 1978; Elias and Dykeman, 1990).

Garden cress (*L. sativum* L.) is used as a green vegetable in Europe and America. The seeds of *L. sativum* are considered as a functional food in India and possess a number of medicinal properties like galactogogue, aperient, diuretic, alterative, tonic, demulcent, aphrodisiac, carminative and emmenagogue (Gokavi *et al.*, 2004).

Macca (*Lepidium meyenii*) is a traditional food plant cultivated since 1600 B.C. on the high plateaus of the Andean mountain range in Peru. Tuberous roots of macca are used for production of salads, jams, bread, coffee substitutes and beer. Macca has many nutritional properties including anti-oxidative activity and macca is recommended as a medicinal plant for malabsorption syndrome, alcoholism and constipation, and to increase fertility (Večeřa *et al.*, 2007).

2.1.2 Chemical composition of field pepperweed plant

The chemical composition and content of field pepperweed have been studied. Andersson *et al.* (1999) have reported that the seeds of field pepperweed contained dietary fibre (400 g kg⁻¹), crude fat (200 g kg⁻¹) and protein (190 g kg⁻¹). The main amino acids found in the seed were glutamic acid, aspartic acid and arginine. Linolenic acid was the most abundant fatty acid in the seed followed by erucic acid and oleic acid. The glucosinolate content in field pepperweed seed varied from 123 to 138 μ mol g⁻¹. Glucosinalbin (4-hydroxybenzyl) was found to be the major glucosinolate in the seeds (Andersson *et al.*, 1999). Glucoraphanin (4-methylsulfinylbutyl), glucosinalbin, glucoalyssin (5-methylsulfinylpentyl), glucohesperin (6-methylsulfinylhexyl) and glucobrassicin (4-methoxy-indol-3-yl-methyl) were also detected in the leaves of field pepperweed (Windsor *et al.*, 2005). Juurlink and colleagues demonstrated that the major glucosinolates in leaves of field pepperweed in the accession they examined were glucosinalbin and glucoraphanin (unpublished results). Bandara *et al.* (2008) have reported that the glucoraphanin content in leaves of eight different accessions of field pepperweed varied from 3.1 to 180.8 μ g FW g⁻¹.

2.2 Glucosinolates

Glucosinolates, also known as mustard oil glucosides, are natural plant products that have received much attention due to their role in interactions between the host plant and pests. When consumed, the glucosinolates are flavor precursors, phase 2 protein inducer precursors and have some anti-carcinogenic effects. Glucosinolates are amino acid-derived secondary plant products containing a sulfate and a thioglucose moiety (Figure 2). Glucosinolates are found mainly in the order Capparales. To date more than 120 different glucosinolates have been identified (Hansen *et al.*, 2001; Wittstock and Halkier, 2002; Zukalová and Vašák, 2002; Windsor *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 2. General structure of glucosinolates.

Glucosinolates are grouped into a number of chemical classes according to their structural similarities. Based on the amino acid precursors, glucosinolates are mainly grouped as aliphatic, aromatic and indolyl types (Chen and Andreasson, 2001; Fahey *et al.*, 2001). Secondary modifications of the glucosinolate side chain (oxidation, hydroxylation and esterification) also contribute to the enormous diversity of this class of phytochemicals (Wittstock and Halkier, 2002; Windsor *et al.*, 2005).

2.2.1 Biosynthesis of glucosinolates

Glucosinolates are synthesized from only eight amino acids (alanine, methionine, valine, leucine, isoleucine, phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan) and a number of chainelongated homologues (Chen and Andreasson, 2001; Fahey *et al.*, 2001; Windsor *et al.*, 2005). The biosynthesis of glucosinolates comprises three independent stages: (1) chain elongation of amino acids, (2) followed by oxidative decarboxylation of the amino acid to its corresponding aldoxime, and (3) conversion of the oxime into basic glucosinolate structure and secondary modifications (Chen and Andreasson, 2001; Fahey *et al.*, 2001; Hansen *et al.*, 2001).

Biosynthesis of the glucosinolate core structure is initiated by the conversion of amino acids or chain elongated amino acids. In cyanogenic glucosides, cytochromes P450 belonging to the CYP79 family catalyze the conversion of amino acids to aldoximes. Homologues of these cytochromes P450 were identified in the *Arabidopsis* genome, and the heterologously produced proteins were characterized for their substrate specificity (Hansen *et al.*, 2001, Wittstock and Halkier, 2002; Schuler and Werck-Reichhart, 2003; Windsor *et al.*, 2005).

To date, six different members of the CYP79 family have been shown to be involved in glucosinolate biosynthesis. CYP79F1 and CYP79F2 convert chain elongated methionine derivatives respectively with 1-6 and 5-6 additional methylene groups in the side chain CYP79A2 metabolizes phenylalanine, while the substrate for CYP79B2 and CYP79B3 is tryptophan. CYP79A1 converts tyrosine into the relevant aldoxime. The members of the CYP79C subfamily have not yet been assigned a function. The cytochrome P450 belonging to the CYP83 family metabolizes aldoximes into relevant glucosinolates. CYP83A1 metabolizes the aliphatic aldoximes, whereas CYP83B1 metabolizes the indole and aromatic aldoximes (Wittstock and Halkier, 2002).





Figure 3. Cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenases involved in the biosynthesis of the glucoraphanin and glucosinalbin core structures. CYP79F1 reacts on dihomomethionine and converts it into 5-methylthiopentanaldoxime. The 5-methylthiopentanaldoxime is converted further through an intermediate into 4-methylthiobutyl glucosinolate. Finally, a side chain modification takes place and produces 4-methylsulfinylbutyl glucosinolate (glucoraphanin). Glucosinalbin biosynthesis can be initiated from either tyrosine or phenylalanine. Both tyrosine and phenylalanine are further converted into their aldoxime forms by CYP79A1 and CYP79A2. The aldoximes then undergo several reactions through intermediates to derive glucosinalbin.

In Arabidopsis glucoraphanin is derived from methionine (Hansen *et al.* 2001) while glucosinalbin is derived from either tyrosine (Koch *et al.*, 1995) or phenylalanine (Wittstock and Halkier, 2000) (Figure 3). In each of the pathways, the first two steps (the amino acid conversion via an aldoxime to a reactive intermediate) are catalyzed by cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenases and the reactions are substrate-specific. It has been shown that the cytochrome CYP79F1 is responsible for the biosynthesis of glucoraphanin (Hansen *et al.*, 2001), while two cytochromes CYP79A1 (Koch *et al.*, 1995) and CYP79A2 (Wittstock and Halkier, 2000) are responsible for converting tyrosine and phenylalanine into their aldoxime

forms respectively (Figure 3). Most of the reactive intermediates in the biosynthetic pathways of glucosinolates have been identified and they are *N*-hydroxy amino acids, aldoximes, thiohydroximic acids and desulfoglucosinolates. Finally, different side chain modifications take place to produce glucoraphanin (Giamoustaris and Mithen, 1996) and glucosinalbin (Mithen *et al.*, 2000) (Figure 3).

2.2.3 Hydrolysis of glucosinolates by plant and microbial myrosinase

Generally glucosinolates are biologically inactive. When the plant tissues are crushed or chewed, glucosinolates are hydrolyzed into biologically active isothiocyanates by the enzyme myrosinase (Fahey and Talalay, 1999). Myrosinase is present in both plant cells and human gut microflora (Fahey et al., 2001). A wide range of degradation products are formed by the hydrolysis of glucosinolates via glucose and an unstable aglycone moiety (Figure 4), which gradually rearranges to form different products. At neutral pH isothiocyanate is the dominant product while acidic pH nitrile derivatives are more prominent (Chen and Andresson, 2001). Glucosinolates which contain terminal double bonds produce an epithionitrile when they are being degraded in the presence of epithiospecifier proteins (ESP) and ferrous ions. If the glucosinolate side chain is hydroxylated, its degradation will produce oxazolidine-2-thiols through a spontaneous cyclization process (Chen and Andresson, 2001; Rouzaud et al., 2004). Some of these isothiocyanates are important class of phase 2 enzyme inducers. The isothiocyanate sulforaphane, a hydrolyzed product of glucoraphanin, has reported as the most potent naturally-occuring inducer of phase 2 enzymes (Prochaska et al., 1992; Zhang et al., 1992)



Figure 4. Names and structures of products from glucosinolate hydrolysis by the enzyme myrosinase (Chen and Andreasson, 2001).

2.2.4 Nutritional and toxic effects of glucosinolates

Several studies have shown that various isothiocyanates derived from the corresponding glucosinolates are beneficial components in the human diet as they reduce the risk of cancer (Fahey *et al.*, 1997; Nestle, 1997; Faulkner *et al.*, 1998; Jones and Brooks, 2006). In cultured human breast cancer cells and rats, sulforaphane could induce several phase 2 proteins (mainly enzymes) (Zhang *et al.*, 1994). Futhermore, sulforaphane has been shown to block the formation of mammary tumors induced by the carcinogen 9, 10-dimethyl-1, 2-benzanthracene and trigger (or promote) apoptosis (Zhang *et al.*, 1994). Juurlink (2001)

suggested that one of the consequences from phase 2 protein induction is decreased oxidative stress, which is suggested to retard or even prevent atherosclerotic changes, leading to reduced incidence of heart and brain attacks, while also slowing the progression of Alzheimer's disease. Subsequent studies by Noyan-Ashraf *et al.* (2006) have indicated that intake of sulforaphane does decrease oxidative stress in the spontaneously hypertensive stroke-prone rat (SHRsp) resulting in better health (Noyan-Ashraf *et al.*, 2005; Noyan-Ashraf *et al.*, 2006).

Zukalová and Vašák (2002) have pointed out that some of the isothiocyanate breakdown products may prevent the uptake of iodine by the thyroid gland. The isothiocyanates derived from hydroxy-glucosinolates are not stable and subsequently rearrange to form oxazolidinethionse. 5- vinyl-2-oxazolidinethione or goitrine is a strongly goitrogenic substance and may lead to develop goiter (Zukalová and Vašák, 2002).

2.2.5. Health impacts of dietary glucoraphanin

An imbalance between production and scavenging of oxidants such as superoxide anion, in favor of the oxidants leads to damage which is termed "oxidative stress". This oxidative stress and its consequences, hypertension and inflammation are causal factors in many complex disorders such as atherosclerosis and Alzheimer's disease (Juurlink, 2001). Phase 2 proteins either directly or indirectly promote the scavenging of strong oxidants, thus decrease the oxidative stress.

Wu *et al.* (2004) have reported that feeding glucoraphanin rich broccoli sprouts to male SHRsp rats (200 mg of dried broccoli sprouts) resulted in decreased oxidative stress and inflammation in the kidneys and cardiovascular system. Treated rats also had significantly lower blood pressures than rats on the control diet. Their results also showed that the expression of phase 2 protein genes was upregulated by the high-glucoraphanin diet. Oxidative stress should also increase activation of NF- κ B, a DNA binding transcriptional factor complex that interacts with promoter elements in pro-inflammatory genes (Juurlink, 2001). Wu *et al.* (2004) found that rats on the high-glucoraphanin diet showed decreased activation of NF- κ B, decreased expression of pro-inflammatory genes and, therefore decreased inflammation in kidneys and the cardiovascular system.

Noyan-Ashraf *et al.* (2005) have shown that intake of broccoli sprouts rich in glucoraphanin also decreased inflammation in the Central Nervous System similar to that observed in the kidney and cardiovascular system. Further studies by Noyan-Ashraf *et al.* (2006) demonstrated that a glucoraphanin-rich diet induced the expression of phase 2 proteins, and decreased oxidative stress and associated hypertension and inflammation in female SHRsp rats. One of the most interesting findings was that if pregnant and lactating female rats were maintained on the glucoraphanin containing diet, their adult offspring had better blood pressures and less tissue inflammation regardless the diet they were on than the parental generation on control diet (Noyan-Ashraf *et al.*, 2005; Noyan-Ashraf *et al.*, 2006). These results collectively suggest that the consumption of a diet which includes phase 2 protein inducers such as sulforaphane may ameliorate or even prevent many complex diseases which are associated with oxidative stress.

Fahey *et al.* (2002) have reported that consumption of broccoli and broccoli sprouts which are abundant with sulforaphane can prevent the development of gastric cancer. According to their results sulforaphane is a potent bacteriostaic agent against antibiotic-resistant strains of *Helicobacter pylori* and prevents benzo(a)pyrene induced fore-stomach tumors in ICR (Imprinting Control Region) mice. In addition, anticancer effects of the dietary isothiocyanate sulforaphane on pancreatic tissues have been reported by Pham *et al.* (2004). Their results have shown that daily sulforaphane intake (375 µmol/kg/d for 3 weeks) in severe

combined immunodeficient mice with PANC-1 (human pancreatic carcinoma, epithelial-like call line) had a 40% decrease in tumor growth compared to controls.

2.2.6 Induction of phase 2 proteins by sulforaphane

As previously explained oxidative damage plays a major role in developing cancer, ageing and a number of chronic diseases. Antioxidants are believed to be able to retard the development of these diseases or conditions. There are two types of antioxidants; *direct* and *indirect*. Direct antioxidants such as vitamin E, thioredoxin-dependent peroxidases, glutathione-S-transferases, and superoxide dismutase scavenge free radicals directly. Indirect antioxidants do not scavenge free radicals directly, but induce or boost the activity of the phase 2 enzymes, which can detoxify free radicals. These enzymes act as a defense mechanism, triggering a broad spectrum of antioxidant activities that neutralize free radicals (Juurlink, 2001). The isothiocyanate sulforaphane is the most potent naturally-occurring inducer of phase 2 proteins such as quinone reductase (Fahey *et al.*, 1997) and glutathione-S-transferase (Maheo *et al.*, 1997). It also inhibit the phase 1 protein cytochrome P450 2E1 (Barcelo *et al.*, 1996).

Two major proteins are involved in the transcriptional activation of phase 2 gene expression; NF-E2 related factor 2 (Nrf2) and Keap1, a cytoplasmic protein (Chui *et al.*, 1995; Hayes *et al.*, 1999; Itoh *et al.*, 1999). Generally, inactive Nrf2 is bound in the cytoplasm to Keap 1. Albena *et al.* (2002) reported that sulforaphane is highly reactive with cysteine thiols in Keap 1, and this interaction releases Nrf2 from the Nrf2-Keap 1 heterodimer. After the release, the active Nrf2 translocates from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. In the nucleus, the Nrf2 forms heterodimers with other transcription factors such as small Maf and the Nrf2-Maf complex binds the antioxidant response element (ARE) in the promoters of phase 2 protein

genes, triggering their transcription. Figure 5 illustrates how sulforaphane promotes transcription of phase 2 protein genes.



Figure 5. Activation of phase 2 enzymes by sulforaphane. Inactive Nrf2 is bound in the cytoplasm to Keap 1. Sulforaphane is highly reactive with cysteine thiols in Keap 1, and this interaction releases Nrf2 from the Nrf2-Keap 1 heterodimer. Then Nrf2 forms a heterodimer with small Maf, which binds to the Antioxidant Response Element in the DNA and triggers the phase 2 gene expression.

2.3 In vitro plant regeneration

In vitro plant regeneration facilitates germplasm conservation, and mass propagation of important crops and medicinal plants as well as crop improvement through genetic transformation (Rout *et al.*, 2000; Kintzios *et al.*, 2004; Thomas *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, there is always a need to develop reliable regeneration systems for use in plant biotechnology.

Plant morphogenesis consists of a series of complex developmental events. *In vitro* morphogenesis can occur two ways, either somatic embryogenesis or shoot organogenesis,

followed by root organogenesis (Phillips, 2004). Both pathways can occur either directly or indirectly. Direct or adventitious organogenesis takes place from the explant without going through a callus stage, the proliferation of undifferentiated tissue. Indirect or *de novo* organogenesis occurs through an unorganized and dedifferentiated callus tissue before organ formation (Gamborg and Phillips, 1995).

The response of excised explants to *in vitro* culture conditions and morphogenesis of organs from the explants depends on a range of different factors, including the donor plant genotype, the type of explants, the physiological stage of the explant source, levels of various plant growth regulators and environmental conditions under which the explants are grown (e.g. light and temperature) (Rout *et al.*, 2000; Almeida *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, many genotype-dependent effects are also affected by the interactions between plant genotypes and the growth regulators. Consequently, in order to develop an optimal procedure for *in vitro* regeneration of a new plant species, various factors such as plant genotype, explant type, growth regulator and culture condition need to be evaluated (George, 1993). Some of the important factors will be reviewed in the following sections.

2.3.1 Genotype

The ability of plant tissues to regenerate *in vitro* is to a large extent controlled genetically. For example in wheat, some genotypes develop shoots from explants cultured on different media, while little success is achieved with other varieties on any medium (Lazar *et al.*, 1983). Similarly, several studies have shown that regeneration responses of melon (*Cucumis spp.*) are genotype-dependent (Orts *et al.*, 1987; Oridate *et al.*, 1992; Gray *et al.*, 1993). Even though sufficient levels of regeneration have been achieved for most commercial apple genotypes, regeneration of transformed apple plants remains difficult and seems to be

strongly genotype-dependent (Yepes and Aldwinckle, 1994; Sriskandarajah and Goodwin, 1998). Akasaka-Kennedy *et al.* (2005) reported over 97% of the apple genotypes tested showed shoot regeneration ability, but the frequency of bud formation ranged widely from 1.3% to 100% among varieties, suggesting that genetics is one major factor for the shoot regenerability.

2.3.2 Physiological stages of source plants and tissues

Several studies have shown that the age and developmental stage of the source plants and explants are important factors in the success of *in vitro* regeneration. It has been reported that young source plants are more regenerative than old stock plants and juvenile plant tissues are more regenerative than mature tissues. In many woody plants, only juvenile explants can be established in culture (Geier, 1986; Stamp et al., 1990; Nugent et al., 1991). Shoot tip explants of the apple cultivars 'Redspur' and 'Goldspur' could be established more readily if they were taken from newly grafted shoots, rather than directly from orchard grown trees (Jones et al., 1985). Nodal segments obtained directly from 10 year-old Fagraea fragrans trees did not grow in culture, but the same explants taken from rooted cuttings of a 10-year-old tree established without difficulty (Lee and Rao, 1986). Kathal et al. (1988) documented that a higher proportion of *Cucumis melo* tissue cultures produced adventitious shoots [the development of shoots from tissues lacking preformed buds (Cassells and Gahan, 2006)] when they were initiated from small leaves (0.3 - 0.5 mm) of young seedlings than from leaves of the same size taken from older seedlings. One important reason why young tissues have better regenerability is that they are less differentiated and contain cells which could be more easily de-differentiated and become proliferative.

Although explants from many organs are capable of producing adventitious shoots, explants excised from different organs or from different tissues within an organ can vary greatly in their morphogenic capacity. According to Jaiswal *et al.* (1987), in *Brassica carinata*, 86% of cotyledons, 74% of the hypocotyl segments and 26% of root segments produced shoots. In *Pennisetum* and *Populas*, a gradient of embryogenic and organogenic ability is found within a single leaf such that explants taken from the base of the lamina are the most regenerative in cultures (Rajasekaran *et al.*, 1987; Lee-Stadelmann *et al.*, 1991). Also, regeneration from melon hypocotyl explants is more rapid than from proximal cotyledon explants (Gaba *et al.*, 1999).

In vitro regeneration can be influenced by the way the source plants are treated and by the environment in which they have been grown. Explants taken from tissue-culture derived source plants have higher *in vitro* regeneration capacity than those from field- or greenhouse – grown source plants (Read, 1990). For some plants, the results from tissue cultures can also vary according to the time of year at which explants are excised or according to the environmental conditions under which the source plants were grown. Shoot regeneration from greenhouse grown *Peperonia* leaf segments was greatest when leaves were taken in summer, less successful in spring and poor in winter (Kukulczanka *et al.*, 1977). Results from *in vitro* culture of *Larix occidentalis* showed that bud explants of mature trees gathered in June produced multiple axillary buds more rapidly than those taken at other times of the year (in 3-4 weeks compared to 3-4 months at other times) and a higher proportion of the explants responded to *in vitro* culture (Chesick *et al.*, 1990).

2.3.3 Plant growth regulators (PGR)

Plant growth and *in vitro* morphogenesis are controlled by the interaction between naturally-occurring endogenous growth regulators and exogenous growth regulators in the culture media. There are several classes/types of plant growth regulators, including auxins, cytokinins, gibberellins, ethylene, and abscisic acid. Among these classes, auxins and cytokinins are widely used for regulating growth and organogenesis in plant tissue and organ cultures. A balance between auxin and cytokinin growth regulators is a very important factor for the formation of shoots and roots (George, 1993). In 1957, Skoog and Miller showed that shoot formation could be induced from tobacco callus using low levels of auxin and a high level of cytokinin in the shoot induction media. A number of growth regulator combinations and concentrations need to be tested when designing *in vitro* culture protocols for a new plant species or new varieties (Valdés *et al.*, 2001; Singh *et al.*, 2003).

The most common natural auxin is indole-3-acetic acid (IAA). There exist many chemical or synthetic analogues of IAA such as 2, 4- dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D), IBA (3- indole butyric acid) and 1- naphthalene acetic acid (NAA), which have similar biological properties but are more stable than IAA. NAA and IBA are extensively used for shoot cultures while 2,4-D is often used to initiate callus cultures. There are about 25 naturally occurring cytokinins. Zeatin (4 hydroxy-3- methyl-trans-2-butenylamino purine) and 2-iP [6-(3-methyl-2-butenylamino purine)] are the most commonly used cytokinins in tissue culture. Synthetic cytokinins widely used in plant tissue culture work include kinetin (6-furfuryl amino purine), 6-benzyl amino purine (BAP) and N-phenyl-1, 2, 3 thidiazol – 5- ylurea (TDZ).

It is known that the formations of adventitious shoots from explant tissues are regulated by the auxin to cytokinin ratio rather than the absolute hormone levels. Skoog and Miller (1957) reported that shoot formation could be induced using relatively low levels of auxin and a high level of cytokinin in the culture media. Figure 6 illustrates the relative concentrations of auxin and cytokinin required for various types and states of growth and differentiation in tissue culture.



Figure 6. Relative concentrations of auxin and cytokinin required for growth and organogenesis (George, 1993).

2.3.4 Environmental factors

Light and temperature conditions also affecting the *in vitro* plant regeneration. Preculture light intensity and quality may alter the endogenous hormone levels in the donor plants (Read, 1990). Shepard and Totten (1977) reported light intensity and temperature during culture as critical factors in potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) shoot morphogenesis. Healthy green calli were able to initiate more shoot buds under a light intensity 4,000 lux, but shoot bud development was increasingly inhibited when the temperature was above 24°C.

Generally, callus formation takes place in the dark while shoots regeneration occurs in the presence of light. However, Caillot *et al.* (2009) reported that the percentage of shoot initiation from flax (*Linum usitatissimum*) calli was significantly higher when high light intensity (150 μ mol photon m⁻² s⁻¹) was used. Furthermore, the high light intensity doubled the percentage of callus formation as well as their organogenic potential. A high light intensity has also been reported to stimulate the organogenic ability of garlic (*Allium sativum*) (Martin-Urdiroz *et al.*, 2004).

Conversely a high level of light intensity does not always increase shoot regeneration. High photosynthetic photon flux (PPF) (100 – 125 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) reduced the regeneration of apple varieties such as 'Empire' and 'McIntosh' from 93% to 33% and 98% to 41%, respectively (Yepes and Aldwinckle, 1994). Furthermore, it has been shown that the number of shoots developed per explant was reduced from 6 or 8 when treated with low PPF (15 – 30 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) to 1 or 2 when treated with high PPF. However, once regeneration had taken place, PPF from 40 to 70 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ increased shoot growth and development.

In some situations, darkness also favors growth and morphogenesis of plant tissue cultures. Dark conditions were used to encourage elongation of hypocotyls or epicotyls before explants were excised (Jagannathan and Marcotrigiano, 1986). Some species like *Picea pungens* did not produce adventitious buds unless the source plant was given a 8-day dark treatment followed by a 16 h photoperiod with 1000 lux illumination for shoot development (George, 1993). Furthermore, Kowalczyk *et al.*, (1983) observed that leaf disc and protoplast derived callus of *Solanum khasianum* produce shoots 21-28 days after the dark treatment. Bach, (1987) reported that for morphogenesis of species such as *Freesia hybrida*, the

requirement for light or dark depended on the plant genotype. Calli from some cultivars were able to produce shoots in dark, while calli from other cultivars required light. These observations collectively indicate that optimal light intensity is highly dependent of plant species, genotype, and explant type.

2.4 Plant transformation

2.4.1 Methods of plant transformation

Plant transformation refers to the introduction of desired foreign DNA into plant cells or tissues. Various methods have been developed for plant transformation. The most commonly used method is plant transformation mediated by the soil phytopathogen *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, the causative agent of crown gall disease (Zupan *et al.*, 2000).

Agrobacterium tumefaciens is attracted to phenolic compounds (acetosyringone), sugars, and organic acids that are released from wounded plant tissues (Winans, 1992; Tzfira and Citovsky, 2002). Agrobacterium has the ability to transfer a portion of its tumor-inducing (Ti) pasmid to the plant genome. There are two major regions in the Ti plasmid, the T-DNA region which is responsible for the crown gall disease and the region containing virulence (*vir*) genes which encode proteins required for T-DNA transfer (Winans, 1992; Zupan *et al.*, 2000). For laboratory use in plant transformation, the gall-forming sequences (oncogenes) have been removed from the T-DNA region of Agrobacterium strains. The most commonly used method to inactivate the disease-causing ability is to remove the T-DNA by an *in vitro* recombination event and replace it with an engineered expression cassette. The resulting Agrobacterium strains retain the *vir* genes and as such are suitable hosts for plant transformation vectors. Also instead of a single Ti plasmid, most of the current Agrobacterium strains used in plant

transformation contain a binary system consisting of two plasmids, one plasmid having the *vir* region and the other having the desired T-DNA region containing one or more gene expression cassettes (Hoekama *et al.*, 1983).

Agrobacterium-mediated transformation has become the most common method for Brassica transformation. Compared to other transformation methods, Agrobacterium-mediated transformation is simple, less expensive and does not need any specialized equipments (Bhalla and Singh, 2008). Relatively large segments of DNA can be accommodated within the T-DNA region and transferred to the plant. Generally only one or a few copies of the target gene(s) are integrated into the plant genome (Trigiano and Gray, 2005). Despite being the most common method, Agrobacterium-mediated transformation has several disadvantages. The main disadvantage is its ineffectiveness in transforming monocot plants (Songstad et al., 1995). Also, although it has been generally believed that during Agrobacterium-mediated transformation only a region between the right and left border repeats of T-DNA is transferred into the plant genome, several studies have shown that fragments of vector DNA can be either transferred as an attachment to the T-DNA or transferred independently from the T-DNA (Permyakova et al., 2009). Another approach of plant transformation, similar to Agrobacterium-mediated transformation, uses Agrobacterium rhizogenes (Christey and Sinclair, 1992; Poulsen, 1996). However, in A. rhizogenes-mediated transformation, transformed plants are regenerated via hairy roots. Several studies have reported some undesirable abnormal phenotypes such as altered flower morphology, reduced apical meristem and wrinkled leaves arising from A. rhizogenes-mediated transformation (Metz et al., 1995; Henzi et al., 2000; Puddephat et al., 2001).

Other two commonly used transformation methods are protoplast-mediated transformation and microprojectile bombardment (Trigiano and Gray, 2005). These two

methods are widely used as alternatives to Agrobacterium-mediated transformation due to their ability to transform both monocot and dicot plants (Songstad et al., 1995). Protoplasts (cells without cell walls) are capable of direct uptake of macromolecules such as DNA. Electroporation and polyethylene glycol (PEG) are the two major methods for delivering DNA into protoplasts (Songstad *et al.*, 1995). The transformation frequency of protoplasts by electroporation depends on several factors including electroporation voltage, current and pulse duration, DNA concentration, and buffer type (Trigiano and Gray, 2005). PEG can chemically induce the formation of membrane pores and thus PEG concentration is most critical in PEGmediated protoplast transformation (Trigiano and Gray, 2005). High concentrations of PEG could reduce the protoplast viability while low concentrations would not be effective in DNA uptake (Hayashimoto et al., 1990). Microprojectile bombardment is widely used for transformation of species that are difficult to transform using Agrobacterium-mediated transformation and protoplast-mediated transformation (Songstad et al., 1995). In this technique tungsten or gold coated DNA molecules are blasted into the plant cells using high pressure helium gas or propulsion of an explosive charge at a high velocity. The DNA molecules are released from their carriers and integrated into the chromosome by cellular components (Trigiano and Gray, 2005).

2.4.2 Selectable markers

Selectable markers are usually necessary for efficient production of transgenic plants as these selectable marker genes allow preferential growth of transformed cells in the presence of the corresponding selective agent. As an example, the aminoglycoside antibiotics, such as kanamycin, neomycin, paromomycin and geneticin (G418) kill bacterial cells by inhibiting protein translation. The gene *NPTII* (neomycin phosphotransferase II), which was originally isolated from *Escherichia coli*, encodes for the protein neomycin phosphotransferase. This enzyme inactivates the aminoglycoside antibiotics by phosphorylation, thus allowing growth of transformed plant cells on media containing these selection agents (Kiernan et al., 1989; Masson et al., 1989; Wu et al., 2006). Another selectable marker is aph IV, which encodes for hygromycin phosphotransferase. This enzyme inactivates hygromycin through phosphorylation and thereby allows growth of resistant transformed shoots on media containing hygromycin. Several studies have shown that hygromycin can be used for efficient transformation of a number of plant species such as Oryza sativa ssp. Indica L.(Lin and Zhang, 2005), Medicago sativa L.(D'Halluin et al., 1990) Glycine max L.(Finer and McMullen, 1991). Gentamycin, streptomycin and spectinomycin can also be used as selectable agents (Hayford et al., 1988; Svab et al., 1990). Phosphinothricin (PPT) is a herbicide which inhibits glutamine synthetase (GS), a key enzyme for ammonium assimilation and the regulation of nitrogen assimilation in plants. The bar gene encoding for phosphinothricin acetyltransferase can inactivate PPT and confer resistance to PPT (DeBlock et al., 1989). Thus, it can also be used as a selectable marker.

2.4.3 Pre-culturing

Pre-culturing or preconditioning is the enhancement of culture growth by prior treatment of the source plant or explant (Cassells and Gahan, 2006). Several studies have shown that pre-culturing explants prior to incubation in *Agrobacterium* solution helps to reduce necrosis and increased the transformation frequency. Cardoza and Stewart (2003) reported *Brassica napus* hypocotyl segments tended to turn necrotic within a week after transformation. This problem was overcome by pre-culturing the hypocotyl explants for 3 days on 2,4-D prior to transformation. Similar observations were reported by Ovesná *et al.*
(1993) for *B. napus*. They have shown that pre-culture of hypocotyl explants on 2,4-D and kinetin for 7 days helped to overcome the lethal effect of toxins from the *Agrobacterium*. However there was excessive growth of callus due to the 2,4-D in the medium. Improvement in transformation frequency due to the pre-culturing of the explants has been reported for several plant species such as *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Schmidt and Willmitzer, 1988; Sangwan *et al.*, 1992), sugarbeet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) (Jacq *et al.*, 1993), tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) (Sunilkumar *et al.*, 1999), watermelon (*Citrullus lanatus*) (Choi *et al.*, 1994) and *Populus nigra* (Confalonieri *et al.*, 1994).

Pre-culture of *Arabidopsis thaliana* L. Heynh explants on media containing plant growth regulators before the *Agrobacterium* infection can enhance the initiation of cell division in specific cell types which are prone to transformation (Sangwan *et al.*, 1992). These newly synthesized cell walls produce compounds which induce *vir* genes in the *Agrobacterium* (Stachel *et al.*, 1985; Spencer and Towers, 1991). Sunilkumar *et al.* (1999) also reported that production of *vir* gene inducers by the tobacco leaf explants during the pre-culturing period is an import contributing factor to increase transformation efficiency.

In contrast to the above findings, Costa *et al.* (2002) reported pre-culture of Duncan grapefruit (*Citrus paradise*) epicotyl segments on co-cultivation medium prior to incubation significantly reduced regeneration. Their results showed genetic transformation efficiency was much higher in the treatment without pre-culture (5.9%) than when the explants pre-cultured for 1 or 2 days. Cervera *et al.* (1998) have shown for citrus, that transformation frequency was drastically decreased in explants pre-cultured on co-cultivation medium compared to explants directly inoculated and co-cultivated with *Agrobacterium* after explants were excised.

2.4.4 Inoculation and co-cultivation

The Agrobacterium infection process is basically divided into two stages: (1) inoculation and (2) co-cultivation. The inoculation stage takes place for a short period, typically a few minutes, by immersion of explants in an Agrobacterium suspension. The excess bacterial suspension is then removed and the explants are co-cultivated for a period of 1 to 7 days on a co-cultivation medium to allow for DNA transfer and integration. The duration of stage 1 can influence efficiency of transformation. Costa et al. (2002) have shown that more shoots were produced from Citrus paradise (Macf) explants which had been incubated in Agrobacterium solution for 5, 10 or 20 min than explants incubated for 1 min. For another citrus species C. sinensis, epicotyl explants incubated longer than 10 min showed a decrease in the transformation efficiency (Bond and Roose, 1998). Wu et al. (2006) reported that 8-10 min was the best inoculation period for tomato transformation. For Brassica species, Cardoza and Stewart (2003) observed that a co-cultivation period of 48 hrs for *B. napus* gave the best transformation efficiency, while a longer period like 72 hrs resulted in a low number of transgenic plants due to necrosis. Ovesná et al. (1993) also indicated that a longer cocultivation period for *B. napus* induced necrosis. In contrast, Zhang *et al.* (2000) reported 72 hrs as the best co-cultivation period for transformation of Chinese cabbage (Brassica campestris L. ssp. Pekinensis).

Sometimes, inoculated explants are incubated upon a piece of sterile filter paper that covers cultured cells to improve transformation frequency by secreting *vir* gene inducers (Horsch *et al.*, 1985). In addition, inclusion of 200 μ M acetosyringone, a *vir* gene inducer, in the co-cultivation medium significantly increased the T-DNA delivery (Wu *et al.*, 2003).

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

Seeds of three accessions of field pepperweed (*L. campestre* L.): Ames 13179, 13180, and 15718 were provided by Dr. Manjula Bandara of the Crop Diversification Centre South, Alberta Agriculture and Food, Alberta, Canada. These three accessions were shown to have relatively high levels of glucoraphanin among the seven accessions and a local variety analyzed by Bandara *et al.*, (2008). The tissue culture laboratory facilities and chemicals required in this project were kindly provided by Dr. Alison Ferrie, National Research Council, Plant Biotechnology Institute, Saskatoon, SK, Canada. Plant tissue culture laboratory training was provided by Joe Hammerlindl a researcher well experienced in *Brassica* transformation in the Plant Biotechnology Institute of the National Research Council, Saskatoon, SK, Canada. All the protocols used in this study were based on standard *Brassica* transformation protocols use in the plant transformation laboratory.

3.1.1 Seed sterilization and germination

Seeds of the field pepperweed accessions Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718 were surfacesterilized prior to use. Approximately 2.0 mL volume of seeds (0.5 g) was placed into a 15 mL falcon tube and 10 mL of 50% commercial Javex bleach (sodium hypochlorite 5.25 %) was added to the tube. Two drops of Tween 20 were added as a wetting agent. The tube was then placed in a rotating mixer for 20 min to insure adequate sterilization of the seeds. After 20 min, the seeds were poured into a sterile funnel lined with Miracloth (placed into the neck of a large flask) and thoroughly rinsed with 500 mL sterile distilled water. The seeds were then transferred onto a piece of sterile filter paper in a sterile Petri dish.

The germination medium consisted of $\frac{1}{2}$ strength Murashige and Skoog 1962 (MS) medium with 1% sucrose in 15 x 70 mm Petri dishes filled nearly to the top (90%) with medium. Thirty five to forty seeds were placed on the surface of the medium. Then the seeded plates, with lids removed, were placed onto the upturned lids of sterile Magenta boxes and covered with the transparent magenta boxes. The seeds were allowed to germinate and grow, first under dark conditions in a closed wood cabinet at room temperature (24 ± 2 °C) for 3 days and then under growth chamber conditions (25 ± 2 °C, 16 h/8 h light/dark) for another 3-4 days.

3.1.2 Leaf sterilization

All three accessions of field pepperweed were grown in 6 inch pots containing Sunshine Mix 3 (SUN GRO Horticultural) to obtain young healthy leaves for use as explants. Eight plants from each accession were grown in a chamber supplemented with cool white fluorescent light with a photoperiod of 16 h/8 h day/night. The light intensity was approximately 120 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. Temperature was 25° ± 2 °C. Plants were watered everyday and fertilized once with 20-20-20 (N: P: K) slow release fertilizer.

To obtain leaf explants, young healthy leaves were excised from field pepperweed plants (6 weeks or older) growing in pots that continuously produced new leaves (the plants do not flower until after a vernalization treatment). For surface sterilization five to eight whole leaves were collected into a 500 mL Pyrex beaker filled with water. After collecting leaf samples, water was removed and 10% commercial Javex bleach (5.25 % of sodium

hypochlorite) was added to cover all leaf materials. Two drops of Tween 20 were added as a surfactant. The beaker was covered with a plastic wrap and placed on a shaker for 15 min (~ 60 rpm). The leaves were then rinsed three times consecutively by using a pair of sterile forceps to dip the leaf pieces into sterile Petri dishes filled with sterile distilled water each for 3-5 minutes. Leaf pieces of about 4.0 x 4.0 mm size were then cut using a sterile scalpel and placed on pre-culture media.

3.2 Media preparation

The basal medium used to culture explants in this study was: Murashige and Skoog (1962) inorganic salts with B5 vitamins as specified by Gamborg *et al.* (1968) (referred to as MS/B5 thereafter). All media were solidified with Phytoagar and the pH was adjusted to 5.8 before autoclaving at 121°C for 20 min.

3.2.1 Seed germination medium

The seed germination medium (SGM) consisted of hormone-free ¹/₂ strength MS/B5, 1% sucrose, and 0.8% phytoagar. SGM was poured into 15 x 70 mm Petri dishes, approximately 30 mL per plate.

3.2.2 Pre-culture/co-cultivation medium

All the explants were pre-cultured on pre-culture/co-cultivation media before transfer to shoot induction medium. Two plant growth regulators 2,4-D (1 mg L⁻¹) and kinetin (1 mg L⁻¹) were added to MS/B5 basal medium containing 3% sucrose and 0.7 % Phytoagar. Autoclaved medium was poured into 15 x 70 mm sterile Petri dishes, approximately 25 mL per plate.

3.2.3 Shoot induction media (SIM)

The shoot induction media (SIM) consisted of MS/B5 basal medium containing 3% sucrose, 0.8% phytoagar, MES 500 mg L⁻¹ and combinations of different concentrations of auxins (NAA) and cytokinins (BA, TDZ and Zeatin). Hypocotyls, leaf and cotyledonary petiole explants were initially screened on MS/B5 medium with 21 different growth regulator combinations as shown in Table 1 to identify suitable concentration ranges for shoot induction of field pepperweed. These hormonal combinations were based on suggestions from Mr. Joe Hammerlindl with his experience with *Brassica* plant regeneration.

NAA/BA		NAA/TDZ		NAA/Zeatin	
mg L ⁻¹	μM	mg L ⁻¹	μM	mg L ⁻¹	μM
0.0 /1.0	0.0/4.0	0.0 /3.0	0.0/13.6	0.0 /1.0	0.0/4.5
0.0 /2.0	0.0/8.0	0.0 /10.0	0.0/45.4	0.0 /2.0	0.0/9.0
0.0 /4.0	0.0/16.0	0.1 /3.0	0.53/13.6	0.1 /1.0	0.53/4.5
0.1 /1.0	0.53/4.0	0.1 /10.0	0.53/45.4	0.1 /2.0	0.53/9.0
0.1 /2.0	0.53/8.0	1.0 /3.0	5.3/13.6	1.0 /1.0	5.3/4.5
0.1 /4.0	0.53/16.0	1.0 /10.0	5.3/45.4	1.0 /2.0	5.3/9.0
1.0 /1.0	5.3/4.0	-	-	-	-
1.0 /2.0	5.3/8.0	-	-	-	-
1.0 /4.0	5.3/16.0	-	-	-	-

Table 1. Concentrations of the auxin NAA and cytokinins used in initial experiments.

NAA = Naphthalene acetic acid (FW - 186.21g)

BA = 6-benzylaminopurine (FW - 225.25g)

TDZ = Thidiazuron (FW - 220.25g)

Zeatin (FW – 219.25g)

3.2.4 Shoot elongation medium (SEM)

After 2-3 weeks, explants with regenerating shoots were transferred onto shoot elongation medium (SEM), consisting of MS/B5 medium with 2% sucrose, 0.5 mg L^{-1} benzyladenine (BA), 1.5 mg L^{-1} gibberellic acid (GA₃) and 0.9% phytoagar. They were

incubated for 3 weeks on this media in a tissue culture room at 25 \pm 2 °C, 16 h/8 h light/dark and ~ 120 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ of light intensity.

3.2.5 Root induction medium (RIM)

Elongated shoots were rooted on root induction medium (RIM) consisting of $\frac{1}{2}$ strength MS/B5 medium supplemented with 0.5 mg L⁻¹ indole-3-butyric acid, 1% sucrose, 500 mg L⁻¹ MES and 0.8% agar. Shoots were maintained in a tissue culture room at 25 ± 2 °C, 16 h/8 h light/dark and ~ 120 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ of light intensity. After about 4 weeks, plantlets with roots were transferred directly to 6-inch pots containing Sunshine Mix 3 and covered with a transparent plastic cup for a week to maintain the humidity. Plants were grown in a chamber supplemented with cool white fluorescent light with a photoperiod of 16 h/8 h day/night. The light intensity was approximately 120 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. Temperature was 25° ± 2 °C.

3.3 Evaluation of explants for shoot induction.

Hypocotyl explants were obtained from 7-day-old seedlings. Whole hypocotyls without sectioning were placed on a sterile filter paper on pre-culture media for 4 days. They were then cut into pieces approximately 5 mm in length and placed horizontally on 21 different plant growth regulator treatment combinations (Table 1) for initial screening.

Sterilized leaf explants were obtained as described earlier and incubated on a preculture medium for 7 days. They were tested with the same growth regulator combinations. Cotyledon explants were excised without the apical meristem but with the petiole, as described by Moloney *et al.* (1989). They were pre-cultured for 4-days and then inserted into the SIM in a way that the cut surface of the explant was in contact with the medium. All the cultures were maintained in a tissue culture room at 25 ± 2 °C with a photoperiod of 16 h/8 h light/dark. Shoots formation, root formation, and appearance of callus were surveyed and noted after four weeks.

3.3.1 Further optimization of *in vitro* shoot regeneration

Based on the initial series of experiments to assess growth regulator combinations, two sets of experiments were conducted. First, green compact callus (after 2 subcultures every 2-3 weeks) from leaf explants were divided into four groups and cultured on these following different plant growth regulator conditions: (1) SIM medium as specified in Section 3.2.3 but containing 3.0 mgL⁻¹ TDZ and 0.1 mgL⁻¹ NAA, (2) SIM containing a low cytokinin level (0.3 mgL⁻¹ TDZ with 0.1 mgL⁻¹ NAA or 0.1 mgL⁻¹ BA with 0.1 mgL⁻¹ NAA), (3) SIM containing a low auxin level (0.01 mgL⁻¹ NAA with 3.0 mgL⁻¹ TDZ or 2.0 mgL⁻¹ BA), and (4) hormone free SIM containing no plant growth regulators.

Secondly, since the various regions of the hypocotyl may differ in their ability to regenerate shoots, hypocotyls were divided into three major segments (Figure 7): acropetal (segment 1), middle (segment 2), and basipetal (segment 3). After pre-cultivation on pre-culture media, each segment was cut into pieces of about 5 mm in length and cultured using the most promising growth regulator combination (3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ with 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA) identified in the initial round of experiments. The experiments were performed twice. In each experiment, for each treatment, two replicating plates each containing about 16 explants were used.



Figure 7. Schematic representation of acropetal (segment 1), middle (segment 2) and basipetal (segment 3) segments of the hypocotyl of field pepperweed.

Results from the above experiments showed that the hypocotyl has the highest regeneration frequency among the three types of explants. Furthermore, the acropetal segment of hypocotyls had the highest regeneration frequencies among the three segments. Based on these results, another set of experiments were performed to optimize the SIM for hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed. The acropetal end explants were further tested on 16 different growth regulator combinations: TDZ at four concentrations (1.0, 3.0, 5.0 and 7.0 mg L⁻¹) in combinations with four NAA concentrations (0.0, 0.1, 0.2, and 0.5 mg L⁻¹). These concentrations were selected based on the results of initial experiments testing different plant growth regulator combinations (Table 1).

After 2-3 weeks, explants with regenerating shoots were transferred to shoot elongation medium (SEM) for another 3 weeks. Elongated shoots were rooted on RIM and incubated for 4 weeks in a tissue culture room at 25 ± 2 °C, 16 h/8 h light/dark and ~ 120 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ of light intensity. Plantlets with roots were transferred to pots containing

Sunshine Mix 3 and covered with a transparent plastic cup for one week to maintain the humidity. Plants were grown in a chamber supplemented with cool white fluorescent light with a 16h photoperiod. The light intensity was approximately 120 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. Temperature was 25° ± 2 °C.

3.4 Agrobacterium-mediated transformation

Based on results from previous experiment hypocotyl explants from seven-day-old *in vitro*-grown seedlings were used for transformation experiments. These explants were precultured on pre-culture media which contained 2,4-D (1 mg L^{-1}) and kinetin (1 mg L^{-1}) for 4 days before the transformation experiments.

3.4.1 Bacterial strains and plasmids

The *Agrobacterium* strain GV3101::pMP90 (Koncz and Schell, 1986) was used in transformation experiments. The binary vector pHS723 was obtained from Dr. Gopalan Selvaraj' laboratory (National Research Council-Plant Biotechnology Institute, Saskatoon, SK, Canada) and used in the initial experiments to optimize transformation conditions. It contains the *GUS* reporter gene fused with the selectable marker gene *NPTII* for kanamycin resistance driven by the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S (CaMV 35S) promoter.

The RNAi construct (named S25C) targeting a field pepperweed P450 gene was prepared by Dr. Xianzong Shi (Department of Biochemistry, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada) using pBBI-PI-ISH (Zhang *et al.*, 2006a), which is a derivative of pBin19. The P450 cDNA fragments were inserted in the sense and anti sense orientations in the plasmid pBBI-PI-ISH (Figure 8). For the control construct (named S25D), only the sense P450 fragment was inserted.



Figure 8. Expression cassette in RNAi construct targeting a field pepperweed P450 gene. The construct was prepared using the vector pBBI-PI-ISH.

3.4.2 Agrobacterium transformation of hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed

Acropetal end hypocotyl segments were harvested from 7-day-old *in vitro*-grown seedlings. These segments were placed onto sterile filter papers (Whatman #1) which were then placed on the surface of pre-culture/co-cultivation medium and incubated for 4 days in a tissue culture room at 25 ± 2 °C, 16 h/ 8h (light/dark) photoperiod.

An *Agrobacterium* culture was prepared by growing *Agrobacterium* (GV3101::pMP90) in 5 mL Luria broth (LB) containing 50 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin and 50 mg L⁻¹ gentamycin at 28°C for 24 hrs. After about 24 hrs the culture was spun down at 822 x g for 10 min, and the supernatant discarded. The pellet was resuspended in 5 mL hormone-free MS containing 3% sucrose.

Hypocotyls were cut into small pieces (approximately 5-mm long) and collected in a 15 x 70 mm Petri dish containing 3.6 mL of hormone-free MS medium. *Agrobacterium* suspension of 0.4 mL was then added to the Petri dish and mixed well by pipetting and swirling by hand to ensure all tissue pieces were inoculated. After 5-8 min of inoculation, excess liquid was removed by pipette and discarded. The inoculated explants were then placed onto plates of pre-culture/co-cultivation medium covered with a sterile filter paper and incubated for 2 days in a tissue culture room at 25 ± 2 °C, 16 h/ 8 h (light/dark) photoperiod.

After the co-cultivation period, explants were transferred to fresh SIM containing kanamycin (20 mg L⁻¹) as the selection agent and 300 mg L⁻¹ timentin to inhibit *Agrobacterium* growth. Plates were kept in a tissue culture room for 2 weeks at 25 ± 2 °C, 16 h/ 8 h (light/dark) photoperiod. Inoculated explants were sub-cultured every 2-3 weeks on to fresh SIM until shoots started to develop. Healthy green shoots with leaves were excised on to SEM containing 25 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin. The shoots were sub-cultured onto fresh SEM every 3-4 weeks. Well developed green shoots were separated from each other and transferred on to RIM containing 25 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin. After 1-3 weeks, root development had started. Rooted shoots were kept for a further 2 weeks until a good root system was developed and then transferred to pots containing Sunshine Mix 3.

3.4.3 Evaluating optimum kanamycin concentration for *Agrobacterium* transformation

Acropetal end hypocotyl explants from field pepperweed accession Ames 13179 were cultured on kanamycin-containing media to determine the optimum kanamycin concentration for selection of transformed explants. Both control and transformed explants treated with *Agrobacterium* containing pHS723 were tested on different kanamycin concentrations (0, 20, 25 and 30 mg L⁻¹). The hypocotyl cultures were grown in a tissue culture room 25 ± 2 °C with a 16 h/ 8 h (light/dark) photoperiod. After 3 weeks, the explants were sub-cultured onto fresh SIM and shoot regeneration frequencies were obtained after another 3 weeks.

Since the vector pBBI-PI-ISH was used to prepare the RNAi construct, the kanamycin concentration was also tested to compare pHS723 with the RNAi construct, to ensure that the kanamycin concentration used was also appropriate for transformation using the RNAi construct. The acropetal hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed, accession Ames 13179 were

inoculated with *Agrobacterium* harboring either pHS723 or the RNAi construct (S25C). After 2 days of co-cultivation the explants were placed separately on SIM containing 0, 20, 25 or 30 mg L^{-1} kanamycin. After 3 weeks explants were sub-cultured onto fresh SIM with the same range of kanamycin concentrations. Shoot formation was recorded after 3 weeks on this media.

3.4.4 Co-cultivation

Acropetal hypocotyl explants of accession Ames 13179 were inoculated with *Agrobacterium* strain GV3101::pMP90 containing plasmid pHS723. The explants were placed on SIM containing 20 mg L^{-1} kanamycin for different lengths of time (0, 2, 4 and 6 days) to determine the optimal co-cultivation time.

3.5 Analysis of transgenic plants

3.5.1 GUS assay

The GUS assay was conducted with minor modifications according to the method described by Jefferson *et al.* (1987). Pieces of healthy green leaves (approximate 4 x 4 mm) from putative transgenic shoots were collected in a 96 well plate and X-Gluc (5-brom-4-chloro-3-indolyl glucuronide) solution was added to cover the leaf pieces. Occasionally, a whole leaf (about 2 centimeters in length) was used. It was placed in a plastic weighing boat containing the X-Gluc solution and covered with a piece of plastic. The leaf samples were incubated overnight at 37°C. They were then bleached using 10% commercial Javex bleach (10% Javex contained 0.525% sodium hypochlorite) to remove the chlorophyll. Samples were

observed under the light microscope. Development of a blue color was an indicator of *GUS* gene expression.

3.5.2 DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from leaves of root-developing plantlets using the protocol described by Edwards *et al.* (1991) with minor modifications. Leaf tissue samples (about 5 mm diameter) were collected into 1.5 mL pellet Pestle Tube on ice. Edwards extraction buffer (200 μ l) was added to the tube and the tissue was ground with a pellet pestle. An additional 200 μ l of extraction buffer was added and the tissue was further ground to make sure it was thoroughly fragmented and dispersed. The tubes were then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm (eppenforf centrifuge) for 5 min and 300 μ l of the supernatant was removed to a fresh tube. To this fresh tube, 300 μ l of iso-propyl alcohol was added and mixed well by inversion and kept at room temperature for 15 minutes. The tube was centrifuged again at 13,000 rpm for 5 min. After the supernatant was discarded, the DNA pellet was washed with 200 μ l of 70% ethanol and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 min. The supernatant was removed and the DNA pellet was allowed to dry in the flow hood. When dry, 100 μ l of Tris EDTA buffer (10 mM Tris pH 8.0, and 1 mM EDTA) was added to dissolve the pellet. The solution was then centrifuge at 13,000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatant was used for polymerase chain reactions.

3.5.3 PCR amplification of *NPTII* gene

Genomic DNA extracted from the leaf samples of putative transformants of *L. campestre* was used to detect the presence of the *NPT II* gene by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The primers, forward primer JH 1 5⁻ATCTCCTGTCATCTCACC and reverse primer JH 2 5⁻AAGAAGGCGATAGAAGGC, were used to amplify a 500-bp fragment of the *NPT* *II* gene. For PCR, the following temperature profile was used: a 2 min initial denaturation step at 94°C was followed by 35 amplification cycles of 94° C for 30 sec, 55° C for 30 sec and 72° C for 30 sec), and then the final extension step at 72°C for 5 min. Amplified fragments were analyzed using a 1.2 % agarose gel containing 0.5 μ g mL⁻¹ ethidium bromide. After electrophoresis, DNA bands were visualized using a UV illuminator.

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 Evaluation of genotypes, explant types and plant hormonal combinations for shoot induction

The first objective of this study was to establish a system for regeneration of field pepperweed. A literature survey indicated that there has been no published information available on any aspect of tissue culture and plant regeneration for this species. Consequently, several initial experiments were conducted to determine the basic conditions for effective shoot induction of this plant species using genotype, explant type and combinations of plant hormones, particularly auxin and cytokinin as variables. Our strategy was to test broad conditions first and the range of conditions which show promise in shoot regeneration would be further tested and optimized.

Initially, three explant types and 21 hormonal combinations, as described in Table 1, were investigated using one genotype - accession Ames 15718. Cotyledonary petiole and hypocotyl explants from 7-day-old seedlings and leaf explants from plants growing in pots were incubated on the pre-culture medium for 7 days before being transferred onto the SIM. Among the explants tested, it was observed that hypocotyls had the highest regeneration frequency, followed by leaf explants, while cotyledonary petiole explants did not respond to any of the growth regulator combinations. To further confirm the preliminary observations, the same three explant types and 21 hormonal combinations were tested using all three pepperweed genotypes, namely accessions Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718. The results will be discussed in the following according to the explant type tested.

4.1.1 Leaf explants

At the end of one-week incubation on the pre-culture medium, leaf explants started expanding. After transferring these leaf explants to SIM, they started to form callus at the cut ends. After four weeks, almost all the leaf explants developed green compact callus, which was not seen in hypocotyl explants (data not shown). Light green bud-like smooth outgrowths could be seen on some calli, and most of these developed into buds. The frequency of this bud development was genotype-dependent, and is indicative of shoot regenerability. Among the 21 hormonal combinations evaluated, the number of hormonal combinations showing any bud/shoot formation was 17 for accession Ames 13179 (Figure 9A), 8 for accession Ames 13180 (Figure 9B), and 4 for accession Ames 15718 (Figure 9C). In this experiment, buds or shoots were all counted as a positive response of shoot induction. For accessions Ames 13179. These results suggest that accession Ames 13179 was more responsive to the culture conditions than the other two genotypes.

While most hormonal combinations produced buds when applied to Ames 13179, only three hormonal combinations (0.1NAA/4BA, 1.0NAA/1BA and 1.0NAA/3TDZ) produced more than one shoot (Figure 9A). For accession Ames 13180, eight hormonal combinations produced buds and one of them developed shoots. For accession Ames 15718, only four hormonal combinations showed some signs of bud development, with one or two buds each (Figure 9C). In general, the leaf explants did not produce many shoots, and furthermore these shoots appeared succulent and slender-shaped compared to shoots generated from hypocotyl explants.



Growth regulator concentrations (mg/L)



Figure 9. Effects of genotypes and hormonal combinations on shoot and root induction from leaf explants of field pepperweed. Accession Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718 were used in the general survey of explants and hormonal combinations. Leaf explants from mature plants were incubated on pre-culture medium for 7 days before transfer onto the shoot induction medium (SIM). Observations were made after 4 weeks of incubation on SIM for shoot and root formation, with the percentages of regeneration shown. The hormonal combinations are indicated as abbreviations in the order of auxin/cytokinin. The numbers stand for concentrations in mg L⁻¹ and the letters following the numbers for hormones.

N- NAA, B-BA, T-TDZ and Z- zeatin

- (A) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of leaf explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 13179.
- (B) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of leaf explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 13180.
- (C) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of leaf explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 15718.
- (D) Root regeneration frequencies of leaf explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718.

In contrast to the low frequency of shoot development, leaf explants showed a high frequency of root development (Figure 9D and 10D). For accession Ames 13179, eight hormonal combinations resulted in root development in more than 90% of the explants. Among the hormonal combinations 1.0 NAA/1BA, 1.0 NAA/2BA, 1.0 NAA/4BA, 0.1 NAA/1Z and 1.0 NAA/2Z had 100% root development frequency (Figure 9D).

After one-week incubation on the pre-culture medium, leaf explants started expanding (Figure 10A) and developed compact green calli (Figure 10B) within four-weeks. Leaf explants were sub-cultured three times for every 2-3 weeks. Although the shoots increased in size, the morphology for most of them remained abnormal in that the leaf blades did not expand and leaves appeared succulent and slender-shaped (Figure 10E). During this period, the calli grew but few additional shoots developed (Figure 10C). Following three subcultures on SIM, to further determine whether it was possible to generate any more shoots, explants having greenish compact calli as shown in Figure 10B were each divided into four equal pieces, and placed onto the following four media: (1) SIM medium containing 3.0 mgL⁻¹ TDZ and 0.1 mgL⁻¹ NAA, (2) low cytokinin SIM (0.3 mg L⁻¹ TDZ and 0.1 mg L⁻¹ BA with 0.1 mgL⁻¹ NAA) in SIM, (3) low auxin SIM (0.01 mg L⁻¹ NAA with 3.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ or 2 mg L⁻¹ BA) in SIM, and (4) hormone-free SIM. No additional shoot regeneration was observed on any of the media.



Figure 10. Shoot regeneration from leaf explants of field pepperweed. (A), (B) and (C) are from accession 15718 while (D) and (E) are from accession 13179.

- (A) One week-old leaf explant on pre-culture media, showing callus growth around the cut edges of the explant.
- (B) Four week-old leaf explant showing green compact calli, which was the common callus type for leaf explants.
- (C) Occasionally shoots developed from leaf explants on shoot induction medium containing 1.0 mg L^{-1} zeatin and $0.1 \text{ mg L}^{-1} \text{ NAA}$.
- (D) Leaf explants on 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA and 2 mg L^{-1} BA produced more roots than shoots.
- (E) Abnormal shoot development from leaf explants. Shoots developed from leaf explants were generally succulent and slender-shaped compared to shoots from hypocotyl explants.

4.1.2 Hypocotyl explants

Before the transfer to SIM combinations, all hypocotyl explants were placed on preculture medium for 7 days. Once on SIM, there was slight swelling of the explants, and then the growth of small green calli was observed at the both cut ends. By contrast, for leaf explants callus growth covered most of the explant. Among the three genotypes, the accession Ames 13179, as in the case of leaf explants, showed a strong response for shoot regeneration (Figure 11A). For this accession, the hormonal combinations using NAA and TDZ resulted in the higer frequencies of shoot induction (Figure 11A). Among six hormonal combinations using NAA and TDZ, five of them had a shoot-to-explant ratio of over 30%, with the combination of 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA and 3.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ showing 50% of shoot regeneration (Figure 11A and 12).

The frequency of shoots was lower for accession Ames 13180 and was even worse for the accession Ames 15718 (Figures 11B and 11C). Root development from the hypocotyl explants of all accessions was much less frequent in general compared to leaf explants (Figure 11D vs 9D). Compared to leaf explants, hypocotyl explants produced less callus, and when shoots were generated, they were not succulent and leaves showing similar morphology to the leaves of control plants.



Growth regulator concentrations (mg/L)



Figure 11. Effects of genotypes and hormonal combinations on shoot and root induction from hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed. Accession Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718 were used in the general survey of explants and hormonal combinations. Hypocotyl explants from 7-day old seedlings were incubated on pre-culture medium for 7 days before transfer onto the shoot induction medium (SIM). Observations were made after 4 weeks of incubation on SIM for shoot and root formation, with the percentages of regeneration shown. The hormonal combinations are indicated as abbreviations in the order of auxin/cytokinin. The numbers stand for concentrations in mg L⁻¹ and the letters following the numbers for hormones. N- NAA, B-BA, T-TDZ and Z- zeatin

- (A) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of hypocotyl explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 13179.
- (B) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of hypocotyl explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 13180.
- (C) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of hypocotyl explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 15718.
- (D) Root regeneration frequencies of hypocotyl explants of *L. campestre* accessions Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718.



Figure 12. Shoot regeneration of hypocotyl explants from accession Ames 13179 of field pepperweed. Hypocotyl explants were pre-cultured for seven days and transferred to shoot induction medium (SIM) containing 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ and 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA. The photo was taken after four weeks on SIM, showing a high frequency of shoot regeneration.

4.1.3 Cotyledonary petiole explants

There was only rare occurrence of bud or shoot development from cotyledonary petiole explants under any hormonal combination (Figure 13A to C). The accessions Ames 13179 and 15718 showed a low frequency of bud development under 3 hormonal combinations (Figure 13A and B) while the accession 13180 showed bud/shoot development only under 1 hormonal combination (Figure 13C). The low frequency of bud/shoot development suggests that cotyledonary petiole is not a suitable explant for shoot regeneration from field pepperweed under the conditions tested. In addition, root development was also infrequent for cotyledonary petiole explants (Figure 13D).





Growth regulator concentrations (mg/L)



Growth regulator concentrations (mg/L)



Figure 13. Effects of genotypes and hormonal combinations on shoot and root induction from cotyledonary petiole explants of field pepperweed. Accession Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718 were used in the general survey of explants and hormonal combinations. Cotyledonary petiole explants from 7-day old seedlings were incubated on pre-culture medium for 7 days before transfer onto the shoot induction medium (SIM). Observations were made after 4 weeks of incubation on SIM for shoot and root formation, with the percentages of regeneration shown. The hormonal combinations are indicated as abbreviations in the order of auxin/cytokinin. The numbers stand for concentrations in mg L⁻¹ and the letters following the numbers for hormones.

N- NAA, B-BA, T-TDZ and Z- zeatin

- (A) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of cotyledonary petiole explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 13179.
- (B) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of cotyledonary petiole explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 13180.
- (C) Shoot/bud regeneration frequency of cotyledonary petiole explants of *L. campestre* accession Ames 15718.
- (D) Root regeneration frequencies of cotyledonary petiole explants of *L. campestre* accessions Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718.

The experiments described above were designed to determine conditions that could facilitate shoot regeneration from explants of field pepperweed. Several general conclusions could be drawn from the data. First, the accession Ames 13179 has a strong potential for shoot regeneration. Second, hypocotyl explants in general have a higher frequency of shoot regeneration. Third, the combinations of low concentration of NAA (0 or 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA) with TDZ had a higher chance of shoot regeneration, particularly with accession Ames 13179. These data provided a good lead for further testing the hormone combinations and concentrations for shoot induction of accession Ames 13179.

4.2 Optimization of shoot induction from hypocotyl explants

From the above experiments, the highest responsive conditions for shoot induction were as follows: hypocotyl explants of accession Ames 13179 cultured on SIM containing 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA/3.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ (Figure 12). Two tests using these conditions were thus performed to verify the observation. Although shoot regeneration was observed, but the frequency was lower than the 50% observed previously. It was hypothesized that this variation might be in part due to the differential regenerability in different regions of the hypocotyl. Accordingly, experiments were performed using three accessions to determine whether different segments of the hypocotyl explants differed in their ability to regenerate shoots.

The hypocotyl explants were cut into three pieces: top acropetal segment (segment 1), middle segment (segment 2) and bottom basipetal segment (segment 3), as shown in Figure 7. Each segment was then cut into smaller pieces. After pre-culture on pre-culturing media, the explants were transferred onto SIM containing 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA/3.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ. As shown in Figure 14 and 15A, the acropetal segments (segment 1) for the three genotypes showed a higher degree of shoot induction than the other two segments in terms of both the frequency

of explants with shoots and the average number of shoots per explant (Figure 14 and Figure 15B). Among the three accessions, once again accession Ames 13179 showed the highest frequency of regeneration. The difference among the three genotypes appeared to be less for the first segment, with all of them having a frequency of more than 65% for the explant with shoots (Figure 15A). The frequency of root regeneration was relatively low for all the three segments (Figure 15B).



Figure 14. Shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants of accessions Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718 on shoot induction medium containing 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ and 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA. Hypocotyls of accessions 13179, 13180 and 15718, shown from the top to bottom row, were cut into segments 1, 2 and 3. After pre-culture, the explants were placed on the shoot induction medium, and photos were taken after 6 weeks of incubation.

All the explants taken from the acropetal portion of the hypocotyl developed shoots directly from the explant tissue without much callus growth, and we will refer to these as adventitious shoots from here on. In contrast, explants from the basipetal portion of the hypocotyl (segment 3) usually developed large mass of green compact callus. During shoot regeneration, buds which do not have well developed leaf morphology and a "base" or stemlike structure appeared first. The development of a typical adventitious shoot is briefly described here. Under a dissecting microscope, adventitious bud formation could be observed 14 days after incubation on SIM. Adventitious buds appeared first as "nodule"-like structures with light green glossy surface (Figure 16A and 16B). They developed into multiple shoots (Figure 16C). With further development, multiple leaves were formed and these leaves were attached to the same base (Figure 16D). The number of shoots continued to increase after four weeks. Although most of shoots on hypocotyl explants developed without much callus growth (Figure 16B), some explants of segment 1 and 2 did have callus development and shoot regeneration at both ends of the explants (Figure 17A), and the callus mass was smaller compared to call developed on explants of segment 3. Occasionally, shoots developed in the middle of the explant where wounding or crack occurred due to the use of forceps during transfers (Figure 17B).



(B)



Figure 15. Shoot regeneration frequencies of acropetal, middle and basipetal segments of hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed. The hypocotyl explants of three accessions (shown at the right of graphs) were cut into the top acropetal segment (segment 1), middle segment (segment 2) and bottom basipetal segment (segment 3), and cultured separately on shoot induction medium containing 3.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ/0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA (mg L⁻¹). After four weeks, the percentages of shoot regeneration and root regeneration were obtained. Standard errors based on two experiments are shown above the graph bars.

(A) Shoot regeneration

(B) Shoot regeneration per explant



Figure 16. Shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants of accession 13179 of field pepperweed. Hypocotyl explants were harvested from the acropetal end of seven day-old seedlings. Explants were pre-cultured for seven days and transferred to shoot induction medium containing 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ/0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA. After 14 days, shoot regeneration had started.

- (A) A hypocotyl explant showing adventitious shoots with callus development.
- (B) A hypocotyl explant showing adventitious shoots without much callus development.
- (C) A hypocotyl explant showing multiple shoot development.
- (D) A hypocotyl explant showing multiple shoots with many leaflets.

The above observations confirm that the hypocotyl is a good source of explants and furthermore the acropetal segment of the hypocotyl possesses the greatest potential for shoot and root induction. Subsequently further studies were conducted to optimize hormone concentrations for shoot induction using accession Ames 13179 and explants taken from the acropetal section of the hypocotyl segment 1. The accession 13179 was selected based on the frequency of shoot regeneration from the hypocotyl explants and the consideration that it has a good level of glucoraphanin (about 165.5 μ g FWg⁻¹; Bandara *et al.*, 2008).

The previous results showed that the hormonal combination of 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA and 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ was good for shoot regeneration of L. campestre. To better define the optimum concentrations of plant growth regulators, smaller increments around 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA and 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ were selected, resulting in 16 NAA/TDZ combinations (Figure 18). After pre-culture, the explants were transferred onto SIM containing the corresponding NAA/TDZ concentrations (Figure 18A). In general, combinations containing 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ produced a higher percentage of shoot regeneration than the other three concentrations of TDZ, with the frequency of explants having shoot development ranging from 41% to 83% (Figure 18A). The 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA and 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ combination resulted in the highest frequency of explants with shoots. These results are consistent with the observation from earlier experiments, confirming that 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA and 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ combination is a good hormonal combination for shoot regeneration. The average shoot number per explant for this plant growth regulator combination was also one of the highest among the sixteen hormonal combinations (Figure 18B). Despite the wide variation in shoot development frequency of explants among the hormonal combinations, all the NAA/TDZ hormone combinations evaluated were able to induce shoot regeneration from explants taken from the acropetal section of the hypocotyl (segment 1) explants, indicating that this hormone combination is favorable for shoot induction. Based on these results, SIM containing 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA and 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ used on acropetal hypocotyl explants of segment 1 would be used in future experiments.



Figure 17. Shoot development on hypocotyl explants of accession Ames 13179 of field pepperweed. Hypocotyl explants from acropetal ends of the seedlings were pre-cultured and then transferred to SIM containing 3.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ / 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA. Three week-old hypocotyl explants are shown here.

- (A) Usually multiple shoots were developed from the ends of the hypocotyl explant.
- (B) Occasionally some shoots developed at the middle of the explant that was wounded or cracked with the forceps during transfers.

4.3 Shoot elongation

After 3 weeks on SIM containing 0.1 mg L^{-1} NAA and 3.0 mg L^{-1} TDZ, regenerating shoots were transferred to SEM containing basic MS/B5 medium plus 0.5 mg L^{-1} BA and 1.5 mg L^{-1} GA₃. As described above, most of the hypocotyl explants taken from segment 1 produced multiple shoots. These explants were transferred to SEM without being separated. The shoots were allowed to grow and develop further for 3-4 weeks. In general, shoots grew larger, but stems were shorter. Leaves grew larger and exhibited a shape typical of field pepperweed.



Figure 18. Further optimization of hormone concentrations for shoot induction from hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed. Hypocotyl explants from acropetal ends of seedlings were tested on shoot induction medium containing 0, 0.1, 0.2 and 0.5 mg L⁻¹ NAA and 1.0, 3.0, 5.0 and 7.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ. For each treatment, four plates each containing 16 explants were used Standard errors are shown on the graph lines.

(A) Effect of TDZ and NAA hormonal combinations on shoot regeneration

(B) Average number of shoots per explant.

4.4 Rooting

After about 4 weeks on SEM, individual shoots were transferred to RIM containing basic MS/B5 media plus 0.5 mg L^{-1} indole-3-butyric acid. Fourteen days later small roots became visible. Usually, after 4-5 weeks on RIM, the root system had developed and at this stage plantlets were ready for transfer to soil (Figure 19)



Figure 19. Plantlet of field pepperweed with a fully developed root system on root induction medium (RIM). Shoots were transferred from shoot elongation medium to RIM and maintained on RIM for four weeks.

4.5 Optimizing kanamycin concentration for transoformation of field pepperweed.

The second major objective of this study was to establish a plant transformation protocol for field pepperweed, utilizing the established regeneration system. For this purpose, several factors, including conditions for the selectable marker, co-cultivation conditions for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation and analysis of putative transformants were examined.
Since the vectors in this study used kanamycin as a selective agent, the effect of kanamycin on shoot regeneration of hypocotyl segment 1 explants was determined. Segment 1 hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed accession Ames 13179 were pre-cultured for four days, before the explants were co-incubated with *Agrobacterium* solution. After co-cultivation, (usually two days unless specified), the explants were transferred onto SIM containing 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA and 3.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ, plus various concentrations of kanamycin (0, 20, 25 or 30 mg L⁻¹) as well as 300 mg L⁻¹ timentin (Figure 20).

Shoot regeneration was monitored over the next 8 weeks. Without kanamycin, over 75% of explants produced shoots for both the control (without Agrobacterium) and the treatment with Agrobacterium harboring the plant expression vector pHS723 (Figure 21). With 20 mg L^{-1} or more kanamycin, there was a dramatic decrease in the frequency of explants with shoots (the explants were gradually bleached and died), in the control there was still a portion of explants capable of producing shoots, representing the frequency of shoots which could grow at the particular concentration of kanamycin without being transformed. However, treatment with pHS723-carrying Agrobacterium produced had a higher frequency of explants with shoots at each of the kanamycin concentrations (Figure 21). It appears that at 20 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin there was a larger difference between the Agrobacterium treated explants and the control, and also the frequency of explants with shoots for the Agrobacterium treatment was higher than that at higher concentrations of kanamycin, the 20 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin was considered to be a good balance in terms of shoot regeneration frequency and probability of transformation and thus was used in SIM for all subsequent transformation studies. However, in SEM, 25 mg L^{-1} kanamycin concentration was used to reduce the number of escapes.

4.6 Co-cultivation

Co-cultivation is another important factor for explant-based *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. Explants were pre-cultured on the medium containing 1.0 mg L⁻¹ 2,4-D and 1.0 mg L⁻¹ kinetin for 4 days and then they were inoculated with *A. tumefaciens* and co-cultivated for 0, 2, 4 or 6 days, to determine the optimal length of the co-cultivation period. Following co-cultivation, the explants were transferred onto SIM modified as described above. After 3 weeks on SIM, for 0-day co-cultivation treatment, young shoots were visible whereas for other treatments the development of shoots was delayed. However with time, shoots of 0-day co-cultivation control gradually became pale in color and died due to the continued exposure to the 20 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin. After 8 weeks on SIM (including one subculture), the highest frequency of shoot regeneration (number of shoots/number of explants) was observed with 2-day co-cultivation treatment among the four treatments tested (Figure 22). Based on this result, 2-day co-cultivation period was selected for subsequent plant transformation experiments.



Figure 20. Shoot induction from hypocotyl explants of accession Ames 13179 of field pepperweed on different concentrations of kanamycin. Hypocotyl explants (segment 1) were inoculated with Agrobacterium containing the plasmid pHS723. After inoculation, explants were co-cultivated for three days and transferred to SIM with different kanamycin concentrations. Following co-cultivation, the explants were transferred onto shoot induction medium. The photos were taken after 8 weeks on shoot induction medium.

- (A) Hypocotyl explants on 0 mg L^{-1} kanamycin.

- (B) Explants on 20 mg L^{-1} kanamycin. (C) Explants on 25 mg L^{-1} kanamycin. (D) Explants on 30 mg L^{-1} kanamycin.



Figure 21. Effect of of kanamycin concentration on shoot regeneration frequency of the hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed accession Ames 13179. Explants were pre-cultured, and then were either infected with pHS712-containing *Agrobacterium* or not inoculated. They were transferred onto SIM and sub-cultured once. The frequency of explants with shoots was determined eight weeks after the transfer to SIM. For each treatment, four plates each containing 16 explants were used. Standard errors are shown on each of the graph bars.



Figure 22. Effect of co-cultivation period on shoot regeneration frequency of the hypocotyl explants of accession Ames13179 of field pepperweed. *Agrobacterium* containing plasmid pHS723 were used to inoculate hypocotyl explants. Inoculated explants were co-cultivated for 0, 2, 4 or 6 days. They were then transferred to SIM containing 3.0 mg L⁻¹ TDZ/0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA and 20 mgL⁻¹ kanamycin. After 8 weeks culture on SIM, the frequency of shoot regeneration was recorded. For each treatment, four plates each containing 16 explants were used. Standard errors are shown on each of the graph bars.

In the previous experiment, the plasmid pHS723 was used to establish the optimum kanamycin concentration and co-cultivation period. The final objective for this study was to down-regulate the cytochrome P450 gene involved in glucosinalbin biosynthesis. Accordingly, an RNAi construct (S25C) based on the vector pBBI-PI-ISH (Zhang *et al.*, 2006a) was prepared. The construct S25C contains the sense and anti-sense fragments of a field pepperweed P450 gene named *LcCYP79B2* (X. Shi and H. Wang, unpublished data). The construct was compared with plasmid pHS723 for kanamycin selection. Conditions were similar to those described above. The hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed accession Ames 13179 were inoculated with *A. tumefaciens* strain (GV3101::pMP90) harboring either the

pHS723 or S25C. Following 2-days of co-cultivation, the explants were transferred to SIM containing 300 mg L⁻¹ timentin and either 20 or 25 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin. The frequency of explants with shoots was determined after 8 weeks on SIM (including one subculture). As shown in Figure 23, the co-cultivation with SC25 appeared to produce a slightly higher frequency of explants with shoots than plasmid pHS723 at both kanamycin concentrations. Since the frequency was higher at 20 mg L⁻¹ for both constructs, this concentration was selected for future transformation with the *LcCYP79B2* RNAi construct S25C.



Figure 23. Comparison of two constructs on shoot regeneration of field pepperweed accession Ames13179 in the presence of kanamycin. Hypocotyl explants were inculated with *Agrobacterium* harboring plasmid pHS723 or S25C, co-cultivated for 2 days and then cultured on shoot induction medium containing 20 or 25 mg L⁻¹ for 8 weeks. The percentage of shoot regeneration was based on 4 plates, each having 16 explants. Standard errors are shown on each of the graph bars.

4.7. Analysis of putative transformants

4.7.1 Plant transformation

Transformation of field pepperweed was carried out with the *LcCYP79B2* RNAi construct S25C for explants taken from the acropetal end of the hypocotyls of accession Ames 13179. Hypocotyl explants were pre-cultured for 4 days, and then placed on sterile filter paper overlying the co-cultivation medium for 2 days. Co-cultivation of explants on filter paper helped reduce over-growth by *Agrobacterium* and associated tissue necrosis, thereby improving the transformation frequency. Co-cultivated explants were then transferred onto SIM containing 20 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin and 300 mg L⁻¹ timentin. After about 8 weeks culturing on SIM green shoots appeared at the cut ends of the hypocotyl explants. Most of the time, they grew in a small cluster consisting of 3-5 shoots of varying sizes. Shoots continued to form up through 10 weeks on SIM.

For selection of transformed explants, 20 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin was used in SIM, allowing recovery of more putatively transformed shoots than if a higher level of kanamycin (25 mg L⁻¹) was used. All shoots able to grow in the presence of 20 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin were transferred (at about 10 weeks) to SEM containing 25 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin. Shoots developing in the presence of kanamycin had lighter green color than shoots without kanamycin. Non-transformed shoots gradually became pale in color and died. Based on results of this study, it was concluded that reliable selection could be achieved through a long exposure (4 weeks or more) of transformed explants to 25 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin on SEM. After 4-6 weeks dark green elongated shoots were transferred to RIM from SEM. With a further 2-3 weeks on RIM, a normal root system had developed.

67

4.7.2. GUS assay

In the experiments to determine conditions for plant transformation, the plasmid pHS723 was used, which contain a GUS (β -glucuronidase) reporter. GUS histochemical staining was thus used to determine whether the kanamycin-resistant seedlings were true transformants. In the initial analysis, 15% of the seedlings that were "transformed" based on kanamycin selection, process the GUS positive. GUS activity was not detected in any of seedlings from the control without co-cultivation with pHS723-containing *A. tumefaciens*, demonstrating that a certain percentage of the kanamycin-resistant seedlings from pHS723 treatment were true transformants. Usually, the entire leave of the transformant showed GUS activity with intense blue color (Figure 24).



Figure 24. Histochemical analysis of leaves of field pepperweed plants transformed with the plasmid pHS723.

(A) Beta-glucuronidase positive leaf from a transformed plantlet.

(B) Control leaf of field pepperweed.

4.7.3 Confirmation of transformants by polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Since no GUS marker was present in the kanamycin-resistant seedlings produced from the *LcCYP79B2* RNAi construct, PCR was used to verify the presence of the transgene. Leaves of green seedlings that survived the kanamycin selection were selected for DNA extraction. Thirty-three seedlings were subjected to the analysis. PCR was carried out to amplify the *NPTII* gene present in the plasmid vector. Among the 33 seedlings analyzed, 29 showed the presence of the *NPTII* gene (Figure 25). If the initial number of explants used was taken as the base, transformation frequency was about 11%. Transgenic plantlets were transferred directly to soil (Figure 26).



Figure 25. PCR (polymerase chain reaction) analysis of kanamycin-resistant field pepperweed plants. DNA was extracted from leaf samples of plantlets on rooting media containing 25 mg L^{-1} kanamycin. PCR reaction was carried out with primers specific for *NPTII* to amplify a fragment of about 500 base pairs. Control DNA of field pepperweed (wt) and a plasmid containing *NPTII* gene was used as a positive control (NptII +ve con) and ddH₂O (No temp) were used as negative control. Amplified PCR products were subjected to electrophoresis using 1.2% agarose gel. Results from sample numbers 13 to 21 are shown here.

Field pepperweed transformants confirmed by PCR were grown in pots in a growth chamber held at 25 ± 2 °C with a 16 h/ 8 h (light/dark) photoperiod. The plants appeared morphologically similar to the control plants (Figure 26).



Figure 26. Transformed plants of field pepperweed.(A) Transformed plants of field pepperweed were grown in a plant growth chamber.

(B) Phenotype of transformed (left) and control (right) plants.

Therefore, based on results of the present study, procedures for plant regeneration and transformation of field pepperweed using accession 13179 have been established. The main conditions used are summarized in Figure 26.



Figure 27. Summary of the plant regeneration and transformation procedures developed in this study for field pepperweed accession Ames 13179. Plant regeneration uses acropetal hypocotyl explants. After pre-culture, the explants are cultured sequentially on shoot induction (SIM), shoot elongation (SEM) and root induction (RIM) media as shown. For plant transformation, acropetal hypocotyl explants are inoculated and then co-cultivated with *Agrobacterium*. The transformed plants are then cultured sequentially for shoot and root regeneration as for plant regeneration.

5.0. DISCUSSION

Glucoraphanin which is one of the major glucosinolates present in field pepperweed, is the precursor of sulforaphane. Sulforaphane is a well known inducer of phase 2 enzymes. The incentive for initiating this study was the long-term goal to develop and improve field pepperweed as a vegetable crop plant. Plant tissue culture techniques could be used to manipulate plant secondary products. For that purpose, it is very important to establish a reliable regeneration and *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation system for field pepperweed. This study presents the first report of plant regeneration from and plant transformation of field pepperweed. In this study, various explants and auxin/cytokinin combinations were evaluated to optimize shoot/root regeneration.

It has been widely known that genotype is one of the major factors affecting plant regeneration. Ono *et al.* (1994) evaluated 100 cultivars of *B. napus* for shoot regeneration using cotyledonary explants and reported wide variation in shoot regeneration frequency ranging from 0% to 97% among the 100 cultivars tested. In another study, *B. napus* cultivar GSL-1 showed better regeneration efficiency than cultivar Westar (Phogat *et al.*, 2000). Pental *et al.* (1993) tested hypocotyl explants of twelve cultivars of *B. juncea* from different regions of the world for their *in vitro* regeneration and found that cultivars of Indian origin were more responsive than the cultivars of CIS (Commonwealth of Independent States) and Australian origin. Zhang *et al.*, (1998) also observed large variation (from 0% to 95%) in regeneration frequency among 123 genotypes of Chinese cabbage (*B. campestris* L. ssp. pekinensis). In the present study regeneration rates of three different genotypes of field pepperweed (accessions Ames 13179, 13180 and 15718) were tested for a range of hormonal concentrations. It was found that accession Ames 13179 was the most responsive in terms of shoot regeneration,

likely due to genetic differences. The field pepperweed accession Ames 13179 also has a higher biomass production than Ames 13180 and Ames 15718 and also a good level of glucoraphanin (165.5 μ g FWg⁻¹) (Bandara *et al.*, 2008). A high level of biomass production is desirable if the plant is to be developed as a nutritional vegentable crop as the source of glucoraphanin.

The frequency of shoot regeneration of field pepperweed was found to be higher from hypocotyl explants than from cotyledonary petiole and leaf explants. This result was similar to that reported by Pande *et al.* (2002) who compared hypocotyl segments to leaf explants, shoot apices, nodal segments, cotyledonary leaves and radicles of *L. sativum* and observed higher shoot regeneration rates in hypocotyl explants. Similarly, several other authors obtained the highest frequencies for shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants of *Brassica* species (Lazzeri and Dunwell, 1986; Jonoubi *et al.*, 2005; Munshi *et al.*, 2007; Ravanfar *et al.*, 2009). Curuk *et al.* (2002) observed rapid *in vitro* regeneration from the proximal zone of the hypocotyl of melon (*Cucumis melo* L.). The reason for this greater frequency of regeneration may be due to the presence of more young undifferentiated or less differentiated cells in the proximal zone as well as accumulation of naturally- occurring growth regulators in this zone. When the acropetal segment of hypocotyl explants were exposed to hormones in the SIM, due to the presence of more young undifferentiated cells, they have a stronger ability to redirect their developmental program thereby producing new shoot apical meristems.

During plant regeneration through organogenesis, in general the first objective is to induce shoots from explants, since shoot regeneration is often more difficult to achieve than root regeneration. It was observed in the present study that leaf explants of field pepperweed tended to produce more roots compared to hypocotyl and cotyledonary petiole explants, making the leaf a less ideal source of explants for this species. Since the presence of auxin seems to be necessary for root induction (Trigiano and Gray, 2005), a higher frequency of root formation from leaf explants may be associated with a higher endogenous auxin level (George, 1993). Also, the uptake of auxin from the medium might have been enhanced by wounding. Dunwell (1981) reported that root production in three *Brassica* spp (*B. oleracea, B. campestris* and *B.* napus) from leaf explants depended upon the size of the explants, with larger explants (> 3 mm) having more roots. In addition, among the growth regulator combinations tested, NAA and TDZ combinations seem to have the lower root regeneration frequencies on the shoot induction media for leaf explants. This observation may be due to the inhibitory effect by TDZ on root formation (George 1993).

The combination of NAA and TDZ has been reported by different authors as important for shoot regeneration in many plant species (Suezawa *et al.*, 1988; Fasolo *et al.*, 1989; Matsuta and Hirabayashi, 1989; Leblay, *et al.*, 1991). Guo *et al.* (2005) reported 5.37 μ M NAA with 4.54 μ M TDZ as the best combination for shoot regeneration (52.4%) from leaf explants of *Brassica juncea* var. tsatsai. They also observed that a higher concentration (11.35 μ M) of TDZ dramatically decreased the shoot induction frequency.

Thidiazuron (TDZ), a substituted phenylurea (N-phenyl-1, 2, 3 thidiazol – 5- yl-urea) is a potent regulator of *in vitro* morphogenesis (Murthy *et al*, 1998). The presence of TDZ, either alone or in combination with other growth regulators, is important for shoot organogenesis in a wide variety of plant species, including several woody plants (Huetteman and Preece, 1993), peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) (Matand and Prakash, 2007), herbaceous medicinal plants (Murch *et al.*, 2000; Liu *et al.*, 2003), pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan* L. Millsp) (Singh *et al.*, 2003) and *Brassica napus* (Jonoubi *et al.*, 2005). TDZ has been found to be more effective than 6-benzyladenine (BA) in the promotion of shoot proliferation (Kern and Meyer, 1986; Dennis, 2003). Studies by Capelle *et al.* (1983) have suggested that TDZ promotes the

conversion of cytokinin ribonucleotides to the biologically more active ribonucleosides in the callus tissue of *Phaseolus lunatus* L. Victor *et al.*, (1999) have observed that the addition of TDZ into the media for peanut embryogenic culture increased the levels of endogenous adenine, adenosine, dihydrozeatin and zeatin, and decreased the endogenous level of 2iP. Due to the inhibitory role of TDZ on cytokinin oxidase (Hare and van Staden, 1994), TDZ can modify the cytokinin biosynthetic pathway (Victor *et al.*, 1999). Also, TDZ has the ability to increase the levels of purines which are required for maintaining rapid cell growth and divisions in plant regeneration (Victor *et al.*, 1999), as well as the level of auxin (Hutchinson *et al.*, 1996). In addition, TDZ may affect regeneration frequency by altering the levels of abscisic acid (Li and Yang, 1988), ethylene (Yip and Yang, 1986) and proline (Murch and Saxena, 1997).

This study has established a tissue culture protocol for efficient shoot organogenesis and plant regeneration from hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed. *In vitro* regeneration frequency and the number of shoots produced by each regenerant are important parameters in determining the success of transformation experiments. Based on present studies, some key conditions have been identified for shoot regeneration, including SIM containing 3 mg L⁻¹ TDZ and 0.1 mg L⁻¹ NAA and the use of acropetal portion of the hypocotyl as explants. Under such conditions, the hypocotyl explants of accession Ames 13179 showed a frequency of over 50% shoot regeneration. Therefore the procedure established here offers a reliable plant regeneration system for applications such as *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation.

Based on the successful use of *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation in many plant species including the *Brassica* species, experiments were conducted to establish an *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation protocol for field pepperweed. The plant regeneration system established from this study was utilized in this transformation process, with hypocotyls as the explants. Hypocotyl explants have been reported to be highly sensitive to co-cultivation with Agrobacterium and tend to become necrotic during subsequent cultivation (Cardoza and Stewart, 2003). This difficulty can be overcome by pre-cultivation of the plant material on callus induction medium (Cardoza and Stewart, 2003) or by delaying the antibiotic selection step (Ovesná et al., 1993). Pre-conditioning explants before Agrobacterium inoculation and co-cultivation can also increase the cell competence for Agrobacterium transformation (Radke et al., 1988, Misra, 1990; Ovesná et al., 1993) and DNA integration through increased DNA synthesis and cell divisions (Kartzke et al., 1990). However, Janssens et al. (1995) reported that pre-conditioning of *Brassica napus* explants with 2,4-D induced excessive callus growth during the shoot regeneration phase and also increased the frequency of transformants with multiple copies of the transgene. In the present study, a pre-culturing period of 4 days was used and this resulted in no significant overgrowth of the callus. This is likely because the particular combination of NAA/TDZ was selected based on the evaluation of many auxin/cytokinin combinations and the hypocotyl explants on this hormonal combination produced only a minimal amount of callus. The period of co-cultivation can also make a significant difference in the transformation efficiency. A co-cultivation period of 48 h gave high transformation efficiency for *B. napus*, while co-cultivation for 72 h resulted in necrosis (Cardoza and Stewart, 2003). However, Zhang et al. (2000) reported a 72 h co-cultivation period to be optimal for Chinese cabbage (B. campestris). For B. oleracea 2-day co-cultivation was the optimal period for cotyledon and hypocotyl transformation, while longer periods such as 4, 5 and 7 days resulted in tissue necrosis and lower shoot regeneration (Bhalla and Smith, 1998). Results of the present study suggest that 2-day co-cultivation for Agrobacterium inoculation is optimal among the different periods tested for field pepperweed.

Various antibiotic resistance genes have been used as selectable markers in the production of transgenic plants (Yoder and Goldsbrough, 1994). The NPTII gene is one of the most commonly used selectable markers for many plant species (Fraley et al., 1986), including Brassica plants (Christey and Sinclair, 1992; Cardoza and Stewart, 2003; Jonoubi et al., 2005; Bhalla and Singh, 2008; Zhang et al., 2006b). Inclusion of an appropriate level of the selection agent (kanamycin) into the shoot induction medium and the media used for any subsequent developmental stages is needed to select out putative transgenic shoots. Transformed tissues remained green while untransformed tissues gradually become pale and died due to exposure to the kanamycin. (Radke et al., 1988). For field pepperweed, under current experimental conditions, 25 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin reduced the shoot regeneration frequency of field pepperweed. Therefore, 20 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin was used in SIM. Since some untransformed shoots could also survive the 20 mgL⁻¹ kanamycin selection, it is important that once the explants develop shoots they are transferred onto fresh medium every 2-3 weeks to maintain the selection pressure. In addition, 25 mg L⁻¹ kanamycin was used with lower sucrose concentrations in SEM and RIM to reduce the frequency of untransformed shoots (escapes). Usually, the kanamycin resistant shoots remained green and developed a root system whereas non-transformed shoots did not produce roots in the root induction medium.

The plasmid pHS723 which was used to optimize the transformation conditions for field pepperweed contains a *GUS* reporter gene. It was thus easy to screen the putative transformants using PCR and GUS assays. After optimizing the transformation conditions the plasmid S25C was used. Since the plasmid S25C does not contain the *GUS* reporter gene, plantlets resistant to 25 mg L^{-1} kanamycin and showing root development on the root induction medium were screened to identify transformed field pepperweed plantlets by a PCR assay. Twenty-nine out of thirty-three plantlets tested for *npt II* gene were positive, suggesting

that a high proportion of the plantlets surviving the kanymycin selection were true transformants.

Due to time limitations, it was not possible to characterize the transformed plants further. In further studies, we need to analyze whether the *LcCYP79B2* gene targeted by the RNAi construct is down-regulated. For instance, RT-PCR could be used to screen for plants the transformed for a reduced level of *LcCYP79B2* expression. Transformed plants with clearly reduced *LcCYP79B2* expression could then be subjected to glucosinolate analysis. Glucosinolates can be extracted from leaf tissues (preferably at several different stages) of wild type plant, transformed plants with a vector alone, and transformed plants with a reduced level of LcCYP79B2. The amount of glucosinalbin can be determined as described with a known sample. Although this is an exciting long term goal, it was not possible to conduct all the work within the time frame of a master thesis research.

In summary, an efficient system for regeneration of field pepperweed has been established for field pepperweed using the accession 13179 as indicated in Figure 27. Although the regeneration procedure was optimized based on field pepperweed accession 13179, these conditions can be the basis for developing regeneration procedures for other genotypes, if a particular genotype needs to be used. Similarly, a procedure was succesfully established for plant transformation of field pepperweed based on the established plant regeneration procedure (Figure 27). The regeneration and transformation procedures developed from hypocotyl explants of field pepperweed should provide one of the fundamental tools essential for molecular biology studies of this species. In the future, the methods developed here should be useful in efforts to convert field pepperweed into a glucoraphanin-rich green vegetable crop free of anti-nutritional constituents such as glucosinalbin.

79

6.0 References

- Akasaka-Kennedy, Y., Yoshida, H., Takahata, Y. (2005). Efficient plant regeneration from leaves of rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.): the influence of AgNO₃ and genotype. *Plant Cell Rep.* 24; 649-654.
- Albena, T. D., Holtzclaw, W. D., Cole, R. N., Itoh, K., Wakabayshi, N., Katoh, Y., Yamamoto, M., Talalay, P. (2002). Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of keap 1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U S A.* **99**; 11908-11913.
- Almeida, W. A. B., Filho, F. A. A. M., Pino, L. E., Boscariol, R. L., Rodriguez, A. P. M., Mendes, B. M. J. (2003). Genetic transformation and plant recovery from mature tissues of *Citrus sinensis* L., Osbeck. *Plant Sci.* 164; 203-211.
- Andersson, A. A. M., Merker, A., Nilsson, P., Sørensen, H., Aman, P. (1999). Chemical composition of the potential new oilseed crops *Barbarea vulgaris*, *Barbarea verna* and *Lepidium campestre*. J. Sci Food Agric. **79**; 179-186.
- Bach, A. (1987). The capability of *in vitro* regeneration of various cultivars of *Freesia hybrida Acta Hort*. **212**; 715-718.
- Bandara, M., Savidov, N., Driedger, D. (2008). Evaluation of field pepperweed (*Lepidium campestre* L.) as a source for glucoraphanin production. *Acta Horti*. **765**; 165-172.
- Barcelo, S., Gardiner, J. M., Gescher, A., Chipman, J. K. (1996). CYP2E1 mediated mechanism of anti-genotoxicity of the broccoli constituent sulforaphane. *Carcinogenesis*. 17; 277-282.

- Bhalla, P. L. and Singh, M. B. (2008). *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of *Brassica* napus and *Brassica oleracea*. Nat. Protocol. **3**; 181–189.
- Bhalla, P. L. and Smith, N. (1998). *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated transformation of cauliflower, *Brassica oleracea* var. botrytis. *Mol. Breeding*. **4**; 531-541.
- Bond, J. E. and Roose, M. L. (1998). Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of the commercially important citrus cultivar Washington navel orange. Plant Cell Rep. 18; 229-234.
- Caillot, S., Rosiau, E., Laplace, C., Thomasset, B. (2009). Influence of light intensity and selection scheme on regeneration time of transgenic flax plants. *Plant Cell Rep.* 28; 359-371.
- Capelle, S. C., Mok, D. W. S., Kirchner, S. C., Mok, M. C. (1983). Effects of thidiazuron on cytokinin autonomy and metabolism of N6 – (2-isopentyl) [8 -14 C] in callus tissue of *Phaseolus lunatus* L. *Plant Physiol.* **73**; 796 – 802.
- Cardoza, V. and Stewart, C. N. (2003). Increased Agrobacterium-mediated transformation and rooting efficiencies in canola (*Brassica napus* L.) from hypocotyls segment explants. *Plant Cell Rep.* 21; 599-604.
- Cassells, A. C. and Gahan, P. B. (2006) Dictionary of Plant Tissue Culture. Haworth Press, Binghamton, NY.
- Cervera, M., Pina, J. A., Juárez, J., Navarro, L., Peña, L. (1998). Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of citrange: factors affecting transformation and regeneration. *Plant Cell Rep.* 18; 271-278.
- Chen, S., and Andreasson, E. (2001). Update on glucosinolate metabolism and transport. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* **39**; 743-758.

- Cheng, P. K., Lakshmanan, P., Swarup, S. (2001). High frequency direct shoot regeneration and continuous production of rapid – cycling *Brassica oleracea* in *in vitro*. *In Vitro Cell*. *Dev. Biol. Plant.* 37; 592 – 598.
- Chesick, E. E., Bilderback, D. E., Blake, G. M. (1990). *In vitro* multiple bud formation by 20 year old western larch buds and stems. *Hort Sci.* **25**; 114-116.
- Choi, P. S., Soh, W. Y., Kim, Y. S., Yoo, O. J., Liu, J. R. (1994). Genetic transformation and plant regeneration of watermelon using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Cell Rep.* 13; 344-348.
- Christey, M. C. and Sinclair, B. K. (1992). Regeneration of transgenic kale (*Brassica oleracea* var. acephala), rape (*B. napus*) and turnip (*B. campestris* var rapifera) plants via Agrobacterium rhizogenes-mediated transformation. Plant Sci. 87; 161-169.
- Christey, M. C., Braun, R., Kenel, F. O., Podivinsky, E. (1999). Agrobacterium rhizogenes mediated transformation of swede. *Proceedings of the 10th International Rapeseed Congress*. The Regional Institute Ltd., Canberra.
- Chui, D. H. K., Tang, W. Z., Orkin, S. H. (1995). cDNA cloning of Murine Nrf2 gene, coding for a p45 NF-E2-related transcription factor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 209; 40-46.
- Claypole, E. W. (1886). Notes on some introduced plants, chiefly in Summit Co., Ohio. *B. Torrey Bot. Club.* **13**; 187-188.
- Confalonieri, M., Balestrazzi, A., Bisoffi, S. (1994). Genetic transformation of *Populus nigra* by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Cell Rep.* **13**; 256-261.
- Costa, M. G. C., Otoni, W. C., Moore, G. A. (2002). An evaluation of factors affecting the efficiency of *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation of *Citrus paradise* (Macf.) and

production of transgenic plants containing carotenoid biosynthetic genes. *Plant Cell Rep.* **21**; 365-373.

- Curuk, S., Elman, C., Schlarman, E., Sagee, O., Shomer, I., Centiner, S., Gray, D. J., Gaba, V. (2002). A novel pathway for rapid shoot regeneration from the proximal zone of the hypocotyl of melon (*Cucumis melo* L.). *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant.* 38; 260-267.
- DeBlock, M., De Brouwer, D., Tenning, P. (1989). Transformation of *Brassica napus* and *Brassica oleracea* using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* and the expression of the *bar* and *neo* genes in the transgenic plants. *Plant Physiol.* **91**; 694-701.
- Dennis, T. T. (2003). Thidiazuron induced multiple shoot induction and plant regeneration from cotyledonary explants of mulberry. *Biol. Plant.* **46**; 529 533.
- D'Halluin, K., Botterman, J., DeGreef, W. (1990). Engineering of herbicide-resistant alfalfa and evaluation under field conditions. *Crop Sci.* **30**; 866-871.
- Duke, J. A. (1992). Handbook of Edible Weeds. CRC Press, Boca, Raton, Florida.
- Dunwell, J. M. (1981). In vitro regeneration from excised leaf discs of three Brassica species. J. Exp. Botany, 32; 789-799.
- Edwards, K., Johnstone, C., Thompson, C. (1991). A simple and rapid method for the preparation of plant genomic DNA for PCR analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **19**; 1349.
- Elias, T. S., Dykeman, P. A. (1990). Edible Wild Plants a North American Field Guide. Sterling Publishing Company, New York.
- Fahey, J. W. and Talalay, P. (1999). Antioxidant functions of sulforaphane: a potent inducer of phase II detoxication enzymes. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*. **37**; 973-979.
- Fahey, J. W., Harlstoy, X., Dolan, P. M., Kensler, T. W., Scholtus, I., Stephenson, K. K., Talalay, P., Loznlewskl, A. (2002). Sulforaphane inhibits extracellular, intracellular, and

antibiotic-resistant strains of *Helicobacter pylori* and prevents benzo(a)pyrene induced stomach tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **99**; 7610-7615.

- Fahey, J. W., Zalcmann, A. T., Talalay, P. (2001). The chemical diversity and distribution of glucosinolates and isothiocyanates among plants. *Phytochemistry*. 56; 5-51.
- Fahey, J. W., Zhang, Y., Talalay, P. (1997). Broccoli sprouts: An exceptionally rich source of inducers of enzymes that protect against chemical carcinogens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 94; 10367-10372.
- Fasolo, F., Zimmerman, R. H., Fordham, I. (1989). Adventitious shoot formation on excised leaves of *in vitro* grown shoots of apple cultivars. *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* **16**; 75-87.
- Faulkner, K., Mithen, R., Williamson, G. (1998). Selective increase of the potential anticarcinogen 4-methylsulphinylbutyl glucosinolate in broccoli. *Carcinogenesis*. 19; 605-609.
- Fernald, M. L., Kinsey, A. C., Rollins, R. C. (1958). Edible Wild Plants of Eastern North America. Harper, New York.
- Finer, J. J. and McMullen, M. D. (1991). Transformation of soybean via particle bombardment of embryogenic suspension culture tissue. *In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Plant.* 27; 175-182.
- Fraley, R. T., Rogers, S. G., Horsch, R. B., Gelvin, S. B. (1986). Genetic transformation in higher plants. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* 4; 1-46.
- Gaba, V., Schlarman, E., Elman, C., Sagee, O., Watad, A. A., Gray, D. J. (1999). In vitro studies on the anatomy and morphology of bud regeneration in melon cotyledons. In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Plant. 35; 1-7.
- Gamborg, O. L., Miller, R. A., Ojima, K. (1968). Nutrient requirements of suspension cultures of soybean root cells. *Cell Res.* **50**; 151-158.

- Gamborg, O. L., Phillips, G. C. (1995). Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture Fundamental Methods. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Geier, T. (1986). Factors affecting plant regeneration from leaf segments of Anthurium scherzerianum schott (Araceae) cultured in vitro. Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. 6; 115-125.
- George E. F. (1993). Plant Propagation by Tissue Culture. 2nd edition. Exegetics Ltd., Edington, Wilts, England.
- Giamoustaris, A. and Mithen, R. (1996). Genetics of aliphatic glucosinolates. IV. Side-chain modification in *Brassica oleracea*. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **93**; 1006-1010.
- Gokavi, S. S., Malleshi, N. G., Guo, M. (2004). Chemical composition of garden cress (Lepidium sativum). Seeds and its fractions and use of bran as a functional ingredient. *Plant Foods Hum. Nutr.* 59; 105-111.
- Gray, D. J., McColley, D. W., Compton, M. E. (1993) High-frequency somatic embryogenesis from quiescent seed cotyledons of *Cucumis melo* cotyledons. J. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 118; 425-432.
- Guil, J. L., Rodríguez-García, I., Torija, E. (1997). Nutritional and toxic factors in selected wild edible plants. *Plant Foods Hum. Nutr.* 51; 99-107.
- Guo, D., Zhu, Z., Hu, X., Zheng, S. (2005). Effect of cytokinins on shoot regeneration from cotyledon and leaf segment of stem mustard (*Brassica juncea* var. tsatsai). *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* 83; 123-127.
- Hansen, C. H., Wittstock, U., Olsen, C. E., Hick, A. J., Pickett, J. A., Halkier, B. A. (2001). Cytochrome P450 CYP79F1 from Arabidopsis catalyzes the conversion of dihomomethionine and trihomomethionine to the corresponding aldoximes in the biosynthesis of aliphatic glucosinolates. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276; 11078-11085.

- Hare, P. D. and van Staden, J. (1994). Cytokinin oxidase: Biochemical features and physiological significance. *Physioll Plant*. 91; 128-136.
- Hayashimoto, A., Li, Z., and Murai, N. (1990). A polyethylene glycol-mediated protoplast transformation system for production of fertile transgenic rice plants. *Plant Physiol.* 93; 857-863.
- Hayes, J. D., Ellis, E. M., Neal, G. M., Harrison, D. J., Manson, M. M. (1999). Cellular responses to stress (Downes, C. P., Wolf, C. R. and Lane, D. P., eds). *Biochem. Soc. Symp.* Potland Press, London. 64; 141-168.
- Hayford, M., Medford, J., Hoffmann, N., Rogers, S., Klee, H. (1988). Development of a plant transformation selection system based on expression of genes encoding gentamicin acetyltransferases. *Plant Physiol.* 86; 1216-1222.
- Henzi, M. X., Christey, M. C., McNeil, D. L. (2000). Factors that influence Agrobacterium rhizogenes-mediated transformation of broccoli (Brassica oleracea L. var italica). Plant Cell Rep. 19; 994 – 999.
- Hicks, G. S. (1980). Patterns of organ development in plant tissue culture and the problem of organ determination. *Bot. Rev.* 46; 1-23.
- Hoekama, A., Hirsch, P. R., Hooykass, P. J. J., Schilperoort, R. A. (1983). A binary plant vector strategy based on separation of *viri* and T region of the Agrobacterium tumefaciens Ti-plasmid. Nature. 303; 179-180.
- Horsch, R. B., Fry, J. E., Hoffman, N. L., Eichholtz, D., Rogers, S. G., Fraley, R. T. (1985). A simple and rapid method for transferring genes into plants. *Science*. 227; 1229-1231.
- Huetteman, C. A. and Preece, J. E. (1993). Thidiazuron: a potent cytokinin for woody plant tissue culture. *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* **33**; 105-119.

- Hutchinson, M. J., Murch, S. J., Saxena, P. K. (1996). Morphoregulatory role of thidiazuron: evidence of the involvement of endogenous auxin in thidiazuron-induced somatic embryogenesis of geranium (*Pelargonium x hortorum* Bailey). J. Plant Physiol. 149; 573-579.
- Itoh, K., Wakabayashi, N., Katoh, Y., Ishii, T., Igarashi, K., Engel, J. D., Yamamoto, M. (1999). Keap1 represses nuclear activation of antioxidant responsive elements by Nrf2 through binding to the amino-terminal Neh2 domain. *Genes Dev.* 13; 76-86.
- Jacq, B., Lesobre, O., Sangwan, R. S., Sangwan-Norreel, B. S. (1993). Factors influencing T-DNA transfer in Agrobacterium-mediated transformation in sugarbeet. *Plant Cell Rep.* 12; 621-624.
- Jagannathan, L. and Marcotrigiano, M. (1986). Phenotypic and ploidy status of *Paulownia* tomentosa trees regenerated from cultured hypocotyls. *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* 7; 227-236.
- Jaiswal, S. K., Bhojwani, S. S., Bhatnagar, S. P. (1987). *In vitro* regeneration potentialities of seedling explants of *Brassica carinata* A. Braun. *Phytomorphology*. 37; 235 – 241.
- Janssens, J., Sonville, A. D., Moens, T., Opsomer, C. (1995). Genetic modification of Brassica napus by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. In workshop on Brassica napus L. Book of abstracts L4, Eucarpia, Helsingør.
- Jefferson, R. A., Bevan, M., Kavanagh, T. (1987). The use of the *Escherichia coli* betaglucuronidase as a gene fusion marker for studies of gene expression in higher plants. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 15; 17-18.
- Jiang, B., Yang, Y., Guo, Y., Guo, Z., Chen, Y. (2005). Thidiazuron induced in vitro shoot organogenesis of the medicinal plant Arnebia kuchroma (Royle) Johnst. In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Plant. 41; 677 – 681.

- Jones, O. P., Zimmerman, R. H., Fordham, I. M., Hopgood, M. E. (1985). Propagation *in vitro* of some dwarf apple trees. *J. Hort. Sci.* **60**; 141-144.
- Jones, S. B. and Brooks, J. D. (2006). Modest induction of phase 2 enzyme activity in the F-344 rat prostate. *BMC Cancer*. **6**; 62.
- Jonoubi, P., Mousavi, A., Majd, A., Salmanian, A. H., Jalalijavaran, M., Daneshian, J. (2005). Efficient regeneration of *Brassica napus* L. hypocotyls and genetic transformation by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Biol. Plantarum.* 49; 175-180.
- Juurlink, B. H. J. (2001). Therapeutic potential of dietary phase 2 enzyme inducers in ameliorating diseases that have an underlying inflammatory component. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **79**; 266-282.
- Kartzke, S., Saedler, H., Meyer, P. (1990). Molecular analysis of transgenic plants derived from transformation of protoplasts at various stages of the cell cycle. *Plant Sci.* 67; 63-72.
- Kathal, R., Bhatnagar, S. P., Bhojwani, S. S. (1988) Regeneration of plants from leaf explants of *Cucumis melo* cv. Pusa Sharbati. *Plant Cell Rep.* 7; 449-451.
- Kern, H. R. and Meyer, M. M. (1986). Tissue culture propagation of *Acer x freemanii* using thidiazuron to stimulate shoot tip proliferation. *Hort Sci.* **21**; 1209-1210.
- Kiernan, J. M., Goldberg, K-B., Young, M. J., Schoelz, J. E., Shepard, R-J. (1989). Transformation and regeneration of *Nicotiana edwarsonii*. *Plant Sci.* **64**; 67-78.
- Kintzios, S., Stavropoulou, E. R., Skamneli, S. (2004). Accumulation of selected macronutrients and carbohydrates in melon tissue cultures: association with pathways of *in vitro* dedifferentiation and differentiation (organogenesis, somatic embryogenesis). *Plant Sci.* 167; 655-664.

- Koch, B. A., Sibbesen, O., Halkeier, B. A., Svendsen, I., Møller, B. L. (1995). The primary sequence of cytochrome P450tyr, the multifunctional N-hydroxylase catalyzing the conversion of L-tyrosine to P-hydroxyphenylacetaldehyde oxime in the biosynthesis of the cyanogenic glucoside dhurrin in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. *Arch. Biochem. Biophy.* 323; 177-186.
- Koncz, C. and Schell, J. (1986). The promoter of TL-DNA gene 5 controls the tissue specific expression of chimaeric genes carried by a novel type of *Agrobacterium* binary vector. *Mol. Gen. Genm.* 204; 383-396.
- Kowalczyk, T. P., Mackenzie, I. A., Cocking, E. C. (1983). Plant regeneration from organ explants and protoplasts of the medicinal plant *Solanum khasianum* C. B. Clarke var. Z. *Pflanzenphysiologie*. **111**; 55-68.
- Kukulczanka, K., Klimaszewska, K., Pluta, H. (1977). Regeneration of entire plants of *Peperomia scandens* from different parts of leaves *in vitro*. *Acta*. *Hort*. **78**; 365-371.
- Lazar, M. D., Collins, G. B., Vian, W. E. (1983). Genetic and environmental effects on the growth and differentiation of wheat somatic cell cultures. *J. Heredity*. **74**; 353-357.
- Lazzeri, P. A. and Dunwell, J. M. (1986). *In vitro* regeneration from seedling organs of *Brassica oleracea* var. *italica* Plenck cv. Green Comet. I. effect of plant growth regulators. *Ann. Bot.* 58; 689-697.
- Leblay, C., Chevreau, E., Raboin, L. M. (1991). Adventitious shoot regeneration from *in vitro* leaves of several pear cultivars (*Pyrus communis* L.) *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* 25; 99-105.
- Lee, J., Mummenhoff, K., Bowman J. L. (2002). Allopolyploidization and evolution of species with reduced floral structures in *Lepidium L*. (Brassicaceae). *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 99; 16835-16840.

- Lee, S. K. and Rao, A. N. (1986) *In vitro* regeneration of plantlets in *Fagraea fragrans* Roxb. – a tropical tree. *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* **7**; 43-51.
- Lee-Stadelmann, O. Y., Lee, S., Chung, H., Guo, Q., Kim, M., Pak, C., Hackett, W. P. (1991). Optimizing potential for adventitious shoot organogenesis in hybrid *Populus* explants *in vitro* with wound treatment and micro-crosssections. *Nato. Asi. Ser. Ser. A Life Sci.* 210; 45-48.
- Li, Z. L. and Yang, S. Y. (1988). Reduction of abscisic acid and induction of sprouting in potato *Solanum tuberosum* L. by TDZ. *J. Plant Growth Regul.* **7**; 37-44.
- Lin, Y. J. and Zhang, Q. (2005). Optimizing the tissue culture conditions for high efficiency transformation of indica rice. *Plant Cell Rep.* 23; 540-547.
- Liu, C. Z., Murch. S. J., El-Demerdash, M., Saxena, P. K. (2003). Regeneration of the Egyptian medicinal plant *Artemisia judaica* L. *Plant Cell Rep.* **21**; 525-530.
- Lulsdorf, M. M., Rempel, H., Jackson, J. A., Baliski, D. S., Hobbs, S. L. A. (1991). Optimizing the production of transformed pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) callus using disarmed *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strains. *Plant Cell Rep.* **9**; 479-483.
- Maheo, K., Morel, F., Langouët, S., Kramer, H., Ferrec, E. L., Ketterer, B., Guillouzo, A. (1997). Inhibition of cytochromes P-450 and induction of glutathione S-transferases by sulforaphane in primary human and rat hepatocytes. *Cancer Research*. 57; 3649-3652.

Martindale, I. C. (1877). More about Ballast plants. Bot. Gazette. 2; 127-128.

Martin-Urdiroz, N., Garrido-Gala, J., Martin J., Barandiaran, X. (2004). Effect of light on the organogeneic ability of garlic roots using a one-step *in vitro* system. *Plant Cell Rep.* **22**; 721-724.

- Masson, J., Bellini, C., Charpentier, A., Pelletier, G. (1989). Selection of somatic hybrids between diploid clones of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) transformed by direct gene transfer. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 78; 153-159.
- Matand, K. and Prakash, C. S. (2007). Evaluation of peanut genotypes for *in vitro* plant regeneration using thidiazuron. *J. Biotech.* **130**; 202-207.
- Matsuta, N. and Hirabayashi, T. (1989). Embryogenic cell lines from somatic embryos of grape (*Vitis vinifera* L.). *Plant Cell Rep.* **7**; 684-687.
- Matzke, M. A., Mette, M. F., Aufsatz, W., Jakowitsch, J., Matzke, A. J. M. (2000). Host defences to parasitic sequences and the evolution of epigenetic control mechanisms. *Genetica*. 107; 271-287.
- Metz, T. D., Dixit, R., Earle, E. D. (1995). Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* var italica) and cabbage (*B. oleracea* var capitata). *Plant Cell Rep.* 15; 287-292.
- Mikkelsen, M. D., Petersen, B. L., Glawisching, E., Jensen, A. B., Andreasson, E., Halkier, B.
 A. (2003). Modulation of CYP79 genes and glucosinolate profiles in *Arabidopsis* by defense signaling pathways. *Plant Physiol.* 131; 298-308.
- Miller, T. E., and Werner, P. A. (1987). Competitive effects and responses between plant species in a first-year old-field community. *Ecology*. **68**; 1201-1210.
- Misra, S. (1990). Transformation of *Brassica napus* L. with a disarmed octopine plasmid of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*: Molecular analysis and inheritance of the transformed phenotype. J. Exp. Botany. 41; 269-275.
- Mithen, R. F., Dekker, M., Verkerk, R., Rabot, S., Johnson, I. T. (2000). The nutritional significance, biosynthesis and bioavailability of glucosinolates in human foods. J. Sci. Food and Agric. 80; 967-984.

- Mok, M. C., Mok, D. W. S., Armstrong, D. G., Shudo, K., Isogai, Y., Okamoto, T. (1982).
 Cytokinin activity of N´–Phenyl–N´-1,2,3–thidiazol–5–yl-urea (thidiazuron). *Phytochemistry.* 21; 1509 1511.
- Moloney, M. M., Walker, J. M., Sharma, K. K. (1989). High efficiency transformation of *Brassica napus* using *Agrobacterium* vectors. *Plant Cell Rep.* 8; 238-242.
- Munshi, M. K., Roy, P. K., Kabir, M. H., Ahmed, G. (2007). *In vitro* regeneration of cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. capitata) through hypocotyl and cotyledon culture. *Plant Tiss. Cult. Biotech.* 17; 131-136.
- Murashige, T. and Skoog, F. (1962). A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassay with tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiol. Plant.* **15**; 473-497.
- Murch, S. J. and Saxena, P. K. (1997). Modulation of mineral and fatty acid profiles during thidiazuron mediated somatic embryogenesis in peanuts (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). J. Plant Physiol. 151; 183-191.
- Murch, S. J., Choffe, K. L., Victor, J. M. R., Slimmon, T. Y., Krishnaraj, S., Saxena, P. K. (2000). Thidiazuron induced plant regeneration from hypocotyl cultures of St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum* cv 'Anthos'). *Plant Cell Rep.* 19; 576-581.
- Murthy, B. N. S., Murch, S. J., Saxena, P. K. (1995). TDZ-induced somatic embryogenesis in intact seedlings of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) endogenous growth regulator levels and significance of cotyledons. *Physiol. Plant.* 94; 268-276.
- Murthy, B. N. S., Murch, S. J., Saxena, P. K. (1998). Thidiazuron: a potent regulator of *in vitro* plant morphogenesis. *In vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant.* **34**; 267-275.
- Nestle, M. (1997). Broccoli sprouts as inducers of carcinogen-detoxifying enzyme system: Clinical, dietary, and policy implications. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **94**; 11149-11151.

- Noyan-Ashraf, M. H., Sadeghinejad, Z., Juurlink, B. H. J. (2005). Dietary approach to decrease aging-related CNS inflammation. *Nutri. Neuro.* **8**; 101-110.
- Noyan-Ashraf, M. H., Wu, L., Wang, R., Juurlink, B. H. J. (2006). Dietary approaches to positively influence fetal determinants of adult health. *FASEB J.* **20**; 371-373.
- Nugent, G., Wardley-Richardson, T. Lu, C. Y. (1991) Plant regeneration from stem and petal of carnation (*Dianthus caryophyllus* L.) *Plant Cell Rep.* **10**; 477-480.
- Ono, Y., Takahata, Y. and Kaizuma, N. (1994). Effect of genotype on shoot regeneration from cotyledonary explants of rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) *Plant Cell Rep.* **14**; 13-17.
- Ontario weeds: Field peppergrass. (2003). Ministry of Agriculture Food and Rural Affairs. http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca . Last accessed on November 23, 2006.
- Oridate, T., Atsumi, H., Ito, S., Araki, H. (1992) Genetic differences in somatic embryogenesis from seeds in melon (*Cucumis melo* L.). *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* 29; 27-30.
- Orts, M. C., Garcia-sogo, B., Roche, M. V., Roig, L. A., Moreno, V. (1987). Morphogenetic response of calli from primary explants of diverse cultivars of melon. *Hort. Sci.* 22; 666
- Ovesná, J. Ptáček, L. and Opatrný, Z. (1993). Factors influencing the regeneration capacity of oilseed rape and cauliflower in transformation experiments. *Biol. Plant.* **35**; 107-112.
- Pande, D., Malik, S., Bora, M., Srivastava, P. S. (2002). A rapid protocol for *in vitro* micropropagation of *Lepidium sativum* Linn. and enhancement in the yield of Lepidine. *In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Plant.* 38; 451-455.
- Pental, D., Pradhan, A. K., Sodhi, Y. S., Mukhopadhyay, A. (1993). Variation amongst *Brassica juncea* cultivars for regeneration from hypocotyl explants and optimization of

conditions for *Agrobacterium*-mediated genetic transformation. *Plant Cell Rep.* **12**; 462-467.

- Permyakova, N. V., Shumnyi, V. K., Deineko, E. V. (2009). Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of plants: Transfer of vector DNA fragments in the plant genome. *Russ. J. Genet.* 45; 266-275.
- Pham, N., Jacobberger, J. W., Schimmer, A. D., Cao, P., Gronda, M., Hedley, D. W. (2004). The dietary isothiocyanate sulforaphane targets pathways of apoptosis, cell cycle arrest, and oxidative stress in human pancreatic cancer cells and inhibits tumor growth in severe combined immunodeficient mice. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* **3**; 1239-1248.
- Phillips, G. C. (2004). Invited review; *In vitro* morphogenesis in plants-recent advances. *In Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Plant.* 40; 342-345.
- Phogat, S. K., Burma, P. K., Pental, D. (2000). High frequency regeneration of *Brassica napus* varieties and genetic transformation of stocks containing fertility restorer genes of two cytoplasmic male sterility systems. *J. Plant Biochem. Biotechnol.* 9; 73-79.
- Poulsen, G. B., (1996). Genetic transformation of Brassica. Plant Breed. 115; 209-225.
- Prochaska, H. J., Santamaria, A. B., Talalay, P. (1992). Rapid detection of inducers of enzymes that protect against carcinogens. *Proc. Natl. Accd. Sci.USA*. 89; 2394-2398.
- Puddephat, I. J., Robinson, H. T., Fenning, T. M., Barbara, D. J., Morton, A., Pink, D. A. C. (2001). Recovery of phenotypically normal transgenic plants of *Brassica oleracea* upon *Agrobacterium rhizogenes*-mediated co-transformation and selection of transformed hairy roots by GUS assay. *Mol Breed.* 7; 229-242.
- Radke, S. E., Andrews, B. M., Moloney, M. M., Crouch, M. L., Krid, C., Knauf, V. C. (1988). Transformation of *Brassica napus* L. using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*: developmentally regulated expression of a reintroduced napin gene. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **75**; 685 – 694.

- Rajasekaran, K., Hein, M. B., Vasil, I. K. (1987). Endogenous abscisic acid and indole-3acetic acid and somatic embryogenesis in cultured leaf explants of *Pennisetum purpureum* schum. Effects *in vivo* and *in vitro* of glyphosate, fluridone, and paclobutrazol. *Plant Physiol.* 84; 47-51.
- Ravanfar, S. A., Aziz, M. A., Kadir, M. A., Rashid, A. A., Sirch, M. H. T. (2009). Plant regeneration of *Brassica oleracea* sub sp. Italica (Broccoli) cv. Green Marvel as affected by plant growth regulators. *African J. Biotech.* 8; 2523-2528.
- Read, P. E. (1990). Environmental effects in micropropagations. Ammirato, P. V., Evans, D.A., Sharp, W. R., Bajaj, Y. P. S. (editors). Handbook of Plant Cell Culture. Vol. 5.McGraw Hill, New York.
- Rout, G. R., Samantaray, S., Das, P. (2000). *In vitro* manipulation and propagation of medicinal plants. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 18; 91-120.
- Rouzaud, G., Sheila, A. Y., Alan, J. D. (2004). Hydrolysis of glucosinolates to isothiocyanates after ingestion of raw or microwaved cabbage by human volunteers. *Cancer Epid. Bio. Pre.* 13; 125-131.
- Sangwan, R. S., Bourgeois, Y., Brown, S., Vasseur, G., Sangwan-Norreel, B. S. (1992). Characterization of competent cells and early events of *Agrobacterium*-mediated genetic transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Planta*. **188**; 439-456.
- Schmidt, R. and Willmitzer, L. (1988). High frequency Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of Arabidopsis thaliana leaf and cotyledon explants. Plant Cell Rep. 7; 583-586.
- Schuler, M. A., and Werck-Reichhart, D. (2003). Functional genomics of P450s. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 54; 629-667.

- Shepard, J. F. and Totten, R. E. (1977) Mesophyll cell protoplast of potato. *Plant Physiol.* **60**; 313-316.
- Singh, N. D., Sahoo, L., Sarin, N. B., Jaiwal, P. K. (2003). The effect of TDZ on organogenesis and somatic embryogenesis in pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan L. Millsp*). *Plant Sci.* 164; 341-347.
- Skoog, F. and Miller, C. O. (1957) Chemical regulation of growth and organ formation in plant tissues cultured *in vitro*. *Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol.* **11**; 118-131.
- Songstad, D. D., Somers, D. A. and Griesbach, R. J. (1995). Advances in alternative DNA delivery techniques. *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult*, **40**; 1-15.
- Spencer, P. A. and Towers, G. H. N. (1991). Restricted occurrence of acetophenone signal compounds. *Phytochemistry*. **30**; 2933 2937.
- Sriskandarajah, S. and Goodwin, P. (1998) Conditioning promotes regeneration and transformation in apple leaf explants. *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* **53**; 1-11.
- Stachel, S. E., Messens, M., Van, Montago, M., Zambryski, P. (1985). Identification of the signal molecules produced by wounded plant cells that activate T-DNA transfer in *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Nature*. **318**; 624-629.
- Stamp, J. A., Colby, S. M., Meredith, C. P. (1990) Improved shoot organogenesis from leaves of grape. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 115; 1038-1042.
- Suezawa, K., Matsuta, N., Omura, M., Yamaki, S. (1988). Plantlet formation from cell suspensions of kiwifruit (*Actinidia chinensis* Planch var. chinensis). *Scientia Hortic.* 37; 123-128.
- Sunilkumar, G., Vijayachandra, K., Veluthambi, K. (1999). Pre-incubation of cut tobacco leaf promotes Agrobacterium-mediated transformation by increasing vir gene induction. *Plant Sci.* 141; 51-58.
- Svab, Z., Hajdukiewicz, P., Maliga, P. (1990). Stable transformation of plastids in higher plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.USA*. 87; 8526-8530.
- Szczawinski, A. F., and Turner, N. J. (1978). Edible Garden Weeds of Canada. National Museums of Canada, Ottawa, Canada.
- Szczawinski, A. F., Turner, N. J. (1980). Wild Green Vegetables of Canada, National Museums of Canada. Ottawa, Canada.
- Thiede, D. A., and Augspurger, C. K. (1996). Intraspecific variation in seed dispersion of *Lepidium campestre* (Brassicaceae). *Am. J. Bot.* **83**; 856-866.
- Thomas, D., Meyer, C., Himber, A., Steinmetz. (2004). Spatial expression of a sunflower SERK gene during induction of somatic embryogenesis and shoot organogenesis. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 42; 35-42.
- Trigiano, R. N. and Gray, D. J. (2005). Construction and use of a simple gene gun for particle bombardment. In Trigiano, R. N., and Gray, D. J. (ed) Plant Development and Biotechnology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Tzfira, T. and Citovsky, V. (2002). Partners-in-infection: host proteins involved in the transformation of plant cells by *Agrobacterium*. *Trends Cell Biol*. **12**; 121-128.
- Valdés, A. E., Ordás, R. J., Fernández, B., Centeno, M. L. (2001) Relationships between hormonal contents and the organogenic response in *Pinus pinea* cotyledons. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 39; 377-384.

- Večeřa, R., Orolin, J., Škottová, N., Kazdová, L., Oliyarnik, O., Ulrichová, J., Šimánek, V. (2007). The influence of maca (*Lepidium meyenii*) on antioxidant status, lipid and glucose metabolism in rat. *Plant Foods Hum. Nut.* 62; 59 -63.
- Victor, J. M. R., Murthy, B. N. S., Murch, S. J., KrishnaRaj, S. and Saxena, P. K. (1999). Role of endogenous purine metabolism in thidiazuron-induced somatic embryogenesis of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Plant Growth Regul.* 28; 41-47.
- Wang, L. J., Ni, D. A., Wang, G. Y., Xia, Z. A., Xu, Z. K. (1999). Preliminary studies on tissue culture and Agrobacterium – mediated transformation of Brassica campestris ssp. Chinensis, Shi Yan Sheng Wu Xue Bao, 32; 93 – 99.
- Wang, W. C., Menon, G., Hansen, G. (2003). Development of a novel Agrobacteriummediated transformation method to recover transgenic Brassica napus plants. Plant Cell Rep. 22; 274-281
- Winans, S. C. (1992). Two-way chemical signaling in Agrobacterium- plant interactions. Microbiol. Rev. 56; 12-31.
- Windsor, A. J., Rechelt, M., Figuth, A., Svatoš, A., Kroymann, J., Kliebenstein, D. J., Gershenzon, J., Mitchell-Olds, T. (2005). Geographic and evolutionary diversification of glucosinolates among near relatives of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Brassicaceae). *Phytochemistry*. **66**; 1321-1333.
- Wittstock, U., and Halkier, B. A. (2000). Cytochrome P450 CYP79A2 from Arabidopsis thaliana L. catalyzes the conversion of L-phenylalanine to phenylacetaldoxime in the biosynthesis of benzylglucosinolate. J. Biol. Chem. 275; 14659 – 14666.
- Wittstock, U., and Halkier, B. A. (2002). Glucosinolate research in the Arabidopsis era. *Trends Plant Sci.* **7**; 263-270.

- Wu, H., Sparks, C., Amoah, B., Jones, H. D. (2003). Factors influencing successful Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of wheat. *Plant Cell Rep.* 21; 659-668.
- Wu, L., Noyan Ashraf, M. H., Facci, M., Wang, R., Paterson, P. G., Ferrie, A., Juurlink, B. H.
 J. (2004). Dietary approach to attenuate oxidative stress, hypertension, and inflammation in the cardiovascular system. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. **101**; 7094-7099.
- Wu, Y. F., Chen, Y., Liang, X. M., Wang, X. Z. (2006). An experimental assessment of the factors influencing *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation in tomato. *Russian J. Plant Phy.* 53; 252-256.
- Yepes, L. M. and Aldwinckle, H. S. (1994) Factors that affect leaf regeneration efficiency in apple, and effect of antibiotics in morphogenesis. *Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult.* 37; 257-269.
- Yip, W. K. and Yang, S. F. (1986). Effect of thidiazuron in cytokinin dependent ethylene production system. *Plant Physiol.* 80; 515-519.
- Yoder, J. I. and Goldsbrough, A. P. (1994). Transformation systems for generating markerfree transgenic plants. *Biotechnology*. 12; 263-267.
- Zhang, F. –L., Takahata, Y., Watanabe, M., Xu, J. B. (2000). Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of cotyledonary explants of Chinese cabbage (*Brassica campestris* L. ssp. Pekinensis). *Plant Cell Rep.* 19; 569-575.
- Zhang, F. –L., Takahata, Y., Xu, J. –B. (1998). Medium and genotype factors influencing shoot regeneration from cotyledonary explants of Chinese cabbage (*Brassica campestris* L. ssp pekinensis). *Plant Cell Rep.* 17; 780-786.
- Zhang, S. C., Tian, L., Svircev, A., Brown, D. C. W., Sibbald, S., Schneider, K. E., Barszcz,E. S., Malutan, T., Wen, R., Sanfacon, H. (2006a). Engineering resistance tp Plum pox

virus (PPV) through the expression of PPV – specific hairpin RNAs in transgenic plants. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* **28**; 263 -270.

- Zhang, Y., Kensler, T. W., Cho, C., Posner, G. H., Talalay, P. (1994). Anticarcinogenic activities of sulforaphane and structurally related synthetic norbornyl isothiocyanates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 91; 3147-3150.
- Zhang, Y., Talalay, P., Cho C-G., Posner, G. H. (1992). A major inducer of anticarcinogenic protective enzymes from broccoli: isolation and elucidation of structure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 89; 2399-2403.
- Zhang, Y., Xu, J., Han, L., Wei, W., Guan, Z., Cong, L., Chai, T. (2006b). Efficient shoot regeneration and Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Brassica juncea. Plant Mol. Biol. Rep. 24; 255a-255i.
- Zukalová, H., and Vašák, J. (2002). The role and effects of glucosinolates of *Brassica* species a review. *Rostlinná Výroba*. **48**; 175-180.
- Zupan, J., Muth, T. R., Draper, O., Zambryski, P. (2000). The transfer of DNA from Agrobacterium tumefaciens into plants: a feast of fundamental insights. Plant J. 23; 11-28.